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“Our government will follow up progress in
various sectors, including small and medium
enterprises, and entrepreneurship, particularly
those based on innovation, artificial
intelligence, and advanced technology.

This is in addition to training and enabling
youth to benefit from the opportunities made
available in this vital sector, so that it could
form a cornerstone in the national economy.”

His Majesty Sultan

Haitham bin Tarik
February 23, 2020



Board of
Directors

ITHCA Group is overseen by a visionary Board of Directors
who mentors and supports the management team to achieve
outstanding long-term results while maintaining the highest
professional and ethical standards.

The Board of Directors is dedicated to enhancing value for all
stakeholders and is made up of notable public and private sector
professionals who contribute expertise in areas such as general
management, strategic planning, ICT sector, investments,
accounting, auditing, and governance.
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Eng. Atif Said Al Siyabi
Chairman

Mr. Said Mohammed 1

Al Aufi
Deputy Chairamn <
Dr. Saoud Hamid Ms. Wafaa Ahmed
Al Shoaili Al Amri
Member Member

Mr. Mohab Ali Mr. Sulaiman Mr. Almutasim
Al Hinai Khamis Al Rawahi Said Al Sariri
Member Member Member
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Executive
Management
Team

Eng. Said Al Mandhari

The executive management team at ITHCA Group consists of Group CEO

experienced and highly qualified leaders, bringing extensive
experience in strategic planning, investments, technologies,
corporate finance, and governance.

The leadership team is committed to increasing value for all
stakeholders and and is committed to achieving the company's

goals and objectives and overall vision and mission. ®
y Mr. Dominique Reverdy  pr. Bader Al Manthari Mr. Dubravko Horvatic
Group Executive, Vice President, Group Executive
a Advisor, Finance Strategy Advisor, Strategy
»

Mr. Talib Al Rashdi Mr. Ameer Al Alawi Mr. Yasser Al Rashdi
Group Director, Group Director, Group Director,
Governance and Investment and Finance
Corporate Relation Business Development
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A Word from
the Chairman

Empowering the Future

In 2024, we observed significant strides
in digital transformation, underscoring the
crucial contribution of the information and
communication technology sector to national
economic development. Aligned with Oman
Vision 2040, this sector remains fundamental
to national advancement, promoting innovation
and bolstering digital prowess.

ITHCA Group remains resolute in its investment
in cutting-edge technologies, with a pronounced
emphasis on artificial intelligence, cloud
computing, and cybersecurity. These technologies are revolutionizing industries,
creating novel economic prospects, and expediting the shift toward an economy driven
by knowledge.

We acknowledge the indispensable role of entrepreneurship and innovation in shaping
the future. By backing technology startups and small to medium-sized enterprises, we
empower local talent, fortify digital capabilities, and support sustainable economic
diversification.

In parallel with these strategic efforts, 2024 marked a year of exceptional financial
performance for the Group. We witnessed strong revenue growth and a return to
profitability, driven by the robust performance of our subsidiaries, optimized operational
efficiency, and enhanced income from strategic assets. This solid financial foundation
has reinforced our ability to support current and future investments, while maintaining
resilience in a dynamic market landscape.

Looking ahead to 2025 and beyond, ITHCA Group is committed to refining its strategy
to further drive the growth of the ICT sector through ecosystem development, venture
capital, and strategic projects. While continuing strategic divestments in certain
assets, such as Oman Broadband Company and Oman Towers Company, we will
accelerate investments in emerging technologies including BioTech, semiconductors,
loT, Blockchain, FinTech, and HealthTech. Our focus will remain on sustainable and
profitable growth, ensuring we strengthen our role as a key investment pillar supporting
Oman’s digital economy.

As we proceed on this trajectory, our organization remains steadfast in propelling digital
transformation, nurturing innovation, and contributing to the fulfillment of the country's
digital ambitions. With unwavering dedication to progress, we anticipate embracing new
opportunities and achieving even greater milestones in the years to come.

Eng. Atif Said Al Siyabi
Chairman
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A Word from
the Group CEO

2024: A Transformative Year in ITHCA Group’s
Journey

In 2024, ITHCA Group continued its mission
to strengthen the Sultanate’s ecosystem, by
pursuing strategic and focused investments
in emerging technologies. Furthermore, the
national ICT agenda has been reinforced
through building a strategic partnerships with
both domestic and international partners, and
dedication to nurturing Omani talent.

- Our focus remained on emerging technologies
such as loT, AI Drone manufacturing, 3D printing, and semiconductors, aligned with
our belief in the “Revolution of Things” as a catalyst for economic diversification, job
creation, and innovation.

The year saw a solid financial turnaround, with revenue increasing to OMR 56.9 million
and net profit reaching OMR 5.5 million, up from a loss of OMR 3 million in 2023. This
growth was led by the strong performance of subsidiaries like Oman Broadband and the
Digital Transformation Management Company, along with improved income streams
and efficiencies. We expanded our investment portfolio by joining the OMR 2 billion
Oman Future Fund and acquiring a 34.25% stake in GS Microelectronics U.S. Inc., which
enabled the launch of Oman’s first semiconductor design center. We also invested
in Mubashir, Oman’s leading digital advertising network, which leverages emerging
technologies to enhance the customer experience. To optimize our portfolio, we began
divesting an additional 10% stake in Oman Broadband ahead of its IPO and exited our
remaining stake in Oman Towers.

In recognition of our governance standards, we received the Oman Investment Authority's
Governance Excellence Award in May 2024. This award is a recognition of the ITHCA Group's
team, for promoting transparency, accountability, and best practices within the Group.

Human capital remained a top priority. We achieved over 98% Omanization across
subsidiaries, allocated 20% of our CSR budget to the Oman Charitable Organization, and
trained over 90 young Omanis through our Tamkeen program.

We strengthened collaborations with Sultan Qaboos University, GUtech and the Ministry
of Transport, Communications and IT, launching initiatives like Innovation Technology
Hub, the Oman Al-Enhanced Drone Competition and supporting youth through our
partnership with the Youth Center.

Attracting foreign investment was also key. We co-launched Jasoor Ventures, a USD 180
million tech investment fund with Oman Investment Authority and ADQ and expanded
our collaboration with global tech leaders like Oracle. Looking ahead, ITHCA Group
remains committed to investments, innovation, and developing talent to strengthen the
national ecosystem. This includes advancing ongoing projects and increasing focus
on emerging sectors such as health-tech and cybersecurity, all in alignment with Vision
2040.

Eng. Said Al Mandhari
Group CEO
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About
ITHCA Group
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ITHCA Group (Oman Information and Communication Technology
Group SAOC) was established in 2019. The Company is a closed
Omani joint stock company registered since 11 December 2018 in
accordance with the Commercial Companies Law in the Sultanate
of Oman and is wholly owned by Oman Investment Authority to be
an investment arm of the government in partnership with the private
sector. The main activity of the Company is to promote investment
operations in the digital economy and emerging technologies such
as artificial intelligence, internet of things, smart cities, big data,
blockchain and other modern technologies.

To be a driving force in propelling
Oman’s ICT sector

‘ Mission

Contributing to Oman's economic
diversification and sustainable growth

by unlocking the full potential of ICT, through strategic
investments, partnerships and fostering talents.

These four strategic objectives are aligned with
the approved vision and mission
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Social Investment and
Job Localization

Investment Philosophy

ITHCA Group's Strategy is built on 3 pillars, dictating wider

role than a pure investor seeking financial returns only. THCA G . tin Acti Peop
roup Empowerment in Action - People,

Society, and SMEs

Economic
Value Creation

ITHCA Group allocated 20% of its CSR budget of 2024 for Oman
Charitable Organization.

Objective

The Group also played a key role in fostering innovation by
participating at Sultan Qaboos University's Al-Enhanced
Drone Competition in collaboration with Ministry of Transport,
Communications, and Information Technology.

4 Additionally, it co-hosted the SCALE Award at COMEX 2024,
\ supporting over 100 startups.

Pillars INVESTOR ORCHESTRATOR

Sponsoring the Oman'’s pavilion at Expo Japan 2025 and
strengthened Oman'’s global presence.

NN

.

Local & international Boost the local ICT
investments with ecosystem through
sustainable long-term targeted efforts.
portfolio returns

Supporting the annual plan of Al-Noor Association for the Blind to
provide the courses in basic computer skills.

. . . 4 Supporting Oman Information Technology Society by providing
EVC e et Omen ctenomy. e . _ Onsor laptops for participation for Open Day that aims to raise
N technological awareness and skills to the society.

Signing agreements with Oman Investment Authority to support
N local value-added programs.

Enablers Funding | R&D | Talent | Policies ' Governance

Sponsoring and participating at Qimam program by Oman
Investment Authority.

J

4 Sponsoring and participating at Oman Artificial Intelligence
\_ Conference.

J

Signing cooperation agreement with Sultan Qaboos University
to transform entrepreneurial ideas from the outputs of research
centers into viable projects.

.
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ITHCA Shared Services Center "E-Withaq"

New ITHCA Shared Services Center "E-Withaq" will continue to contribute to achieving efficiency and
financial savings as a result of the optimal utilization of human resources and central management with
the aim of providing support services to the Group and its subsidiaries mainly in the field of finance,
procurement, and human resources, as well as information systems and admin services.

- J
\
o . .
99% Omanisation
Direct SME Contribution The Qroup and its sut_JsiQ@afies are making
. ) . continuous efforts prioritizing local talent
Total spent in 2024 is OMR 104.3 million recruitment
compared to OMR 40.3 million in 2023. '
Awarded to SME in 2024 is OMR 13.1 million J
compared to OMR 12.2 million 2023. ~

SME Contribution in 2024 is 13% compared to
30% in 2023.

In-direct SME Contribution

Total spent in 2024 is OMR 31.2 million
compared to OMR 38.2 million in 2023.

Awarded to SME in 2024 is OMR 15.9 million
compared to OMR 17.6 million in 2023.

SME Contribution in 2024 is 51% compared to
46% in 2023.
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More than 90 trainees in
(Tamkeen Training Program)

Intensive training program for new graduates for
six-month to develop and enable the trainees to
acquire the required skills and experience that
qualify them in the future to engage in different
fields.

Future Vision

In 2025, ITHCA Group will continue its strategic divestments, partially in
Oman Broadband Company, and fully in Oman Towers Co., while focusing
on enhancing its investment portfolio in emerging technologies, cloud
services, digital transformation, and broadband expansion. To strengthen
its position as a key investment pillar supporting Oman Vision 2040, the
Group will refine its strategy to drive ICT sector growth through ecosystem
development, venture capital, and strategic projects. Key focus areas include
HealthTech semiconductors, Al, 10T, Blockchain, FinTech, and BioTech,
aiming for sustainable and profitable growth in the technology sector.
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Developments
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Projects and Investments

During 2024, the Group signed a number of investment
and partnership agreements with local and international
parties with the aim of expanding its investment
portfolio and supporting the ICT sector in the Sultanate
of Oman. Among the most prominent of these projects
and achievements during the year 2024, investment in
the venture capital Jasoor Ventures LP, Mubashir and
additional investments in eMushrif, GSME, Cylera and

DataOm.

GSME.

Investments in GSME
(Total of $8m)
Q4-2023 & Q1-2024

Jasoor
Investment in the venture
capital

Q2-2024

Jasoor Ventures LP: Launched in April 2024 with
$180 million in capital, this fund is a partnership
between Abu Dhabi Developmental Holding (ADQ)
and Oman Investment Authority (OIA), represented
by ITHCA Group. It focuses on high-growth sectors
such as fintech, edtech, healthtech, cleantech, agri-
food, and logistics, with a $25 million commitment
from ITHCA Group and a regional expansion
strategy.

GSME - GS Microelectronics U.S. Inc.: In late 2023
and early 2024, ITHCA Group invested $8 million
for 34.25% stake in a U.S. semiconductor design
company. The company established a design
center in Muscat, launching the "Oman-1" and
"Oman-2" chips in 2024.

M CYLERA

Investment in Cylera

Q2-2024
($2.5m)

@ e 1t
a wMuskhrie

Additional investment in
e-Mushrif ($500k)

Q2-2024

eMushrif: In Q2-2024, ITHCA
Group invested additional
$500k in the Omani startup.
An loT- enabled platform to
enhance safety measures for
school transportation

Cylera offers a platform to discover, assess, and
secure healthcare loT devices.

"': mubashir

($2.9m)

Q2-2024

Mubashir : In Q2-2024, ITHCA Group invested $2.9
million for 11.6% stake in the Omani startup. A
leading digital advertising network in Oman.
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Initiatives and Key
Developments in 2024

ITHCA Group became a strategic partner in the Oman Future Fund to support SMEs,
venture capital, economic diversification, and integration with public financing.

ITHCA Group signed regional collaboration agreements with Meeza (Qatar),
Salam & Dawiyat (Saudi Arabia), and BNet (Bahrain) to enhance cross-border ICT
infrastructure and knowledge exchange.

Oman Broadband Company signed multiple agreements with real estate developers
to extend fiber optic networks across residential and commercial zones.

-

-

Technology & Digital Transformation

The Semiconductor Design Center was launched in Muscat, and two national
chips (“Oman-1" and “Oman-2") were developed using local talent.

ITHCA Group launched the “Jabreen Smart Infrastructure Cloud” with Oman
Data Park, and Oman Broadband Company deployed over 40 data centers
across Oman.

The Oman Business Platform was migrated to the national cloud infrastructure
in collaboration with the Ministry of Commerce during COMEX 2024.

Community Engagement & Sustainability

ITHCA Group participated in the Dhofar Annual Forum to discuss regional
competitiveness and development within the Vision 2040 framework.

ITHCA Group and Oman Broadband Company joined a Ministry of Labour forum
focused on psychological safety and mental health in the workplace.

ITHCA Group engaged in the Al for Sustainable Development Forum.

ITHCA Group and Oman Broadband Company were diamond partners in the
“Oman Leading Change” conference, with broad staff involvement.

-

/
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Business Optimization & Market Expansion

ITHCA Group completed a 10% divestment from both Oman Broadband
Company and Oman Towers and initiated IPO preparations for Oman Broadband
Company.

Otaxi, ITHCA Group, and Yango Global partnered with the Ministry of Transport,
Communications and Information Technology to enhance taxi services using
advanced digital tools.

Industry Leadership & National Representation

ITHCA Group led and supported key national platforms including the Oman
Cybersecurity Conference, and ICV Forum.

ITHCA Group received the OIA Award for Excellence in Governance Compliance,
recognizing adherence to corporate governance best practices.

Oman Broadband Company held its first Partner Awards, and four SME partners
earned IS0 9001:2015 certifications through the “Ta’heel” development program.
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Corporate Governance Report | Noof

Name of the Board Member Position Meetings
Attended

The corporate governance environment is the
framework in which ITHCA Group functions to achieve 1 Eng. Atif Said Al Siyabi Chairman ~ Non- 7

. .- . . Independent
sustainability. By implementing a thorough framework

. . 2 Mr. Said Mohammed Said Al Aufi  Deputy Independent 7 Appointed July 2023,
for internal controls and operational procedures for Chairman approved as Deputy
efficient decision-making, the governance architecture Chairman on 31st
. . . .. . March 2024
aids the business in realizing its long-term goal.
3 Dr. Yousuf Abdullah Al Bulushi - Independent 2 Resignation approved
ITHCA Group’s Philosophy on Code of Corporate Governance as Deputy Chairman on
) ) 31st March 2024
Corporate governance serves as the basis of how a company is managed and steered,
delineating the rights and responsibilities among its shareholders, the Board of Directors, 4 Dr. Saoud Hamid Al Shoaili Director Independent 7
management, comr_nlttees, and empl(_)y_ees. Thg Gove_rnance Mana.gement Framevyork 5 Mrs. Wafaa Ahmed Al Amri Director Independent v
outlines a systematic approach and guiding principles aimed at ensuring robust oversight,
strategic decision-making, and accountability across the organization. 6  Mr. Almutasim Said Al Sariri Director Non- 7 Appointed in May 2023
Independent
The government's ownership share in ITHCA Group is (100%) of the company’s capital ) ) ) ) )
represented by the Oman Investment Authority (OIA) to be an investment arm of the 7 Mr SL;]I@man Khamis Hamed Al Director chjn- q 7 Appointed in May 2023
government in partnership with the private sector. Rawahi Independent
8  Mr. Mohab Ali Talib Al Hinai Director Independent 5 Appointed in March

Oman Information and Communication Technologies Group SAOC - ITHCA Group - (the
“Company”), is committed to adhere to the highest standards of Corporate Governance.
ITHCA Group believes that the process of Corporate Governance enables it to control and
direct the operations making it more efficient.

2024

The Board of Directors held 7 meetings during the year 2024 as follows

Board Meeting Meeting Date

Board of Directors and its Committees

15t Meeting 11t March 2024
The Board of Directors of ITHCA Group, abiding by the laws of the Sultanate of Oman, N ] .
the Commercial Companies Law, and Oman Investment Authority Code of Governance, 2" Meeting 28" March 2024
recognizes the necessity for clarity in the roles, responsibilities, and accountability in relation 3" Meeting 5t May 2024
to its subsidiaries and affiliates. ITHCA Group’s Board consists of seven members; elected ) . )
by the shareholder (OIA). The Board has also constituted Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), 4" Meeting 25" June 2024
Board questment Commi.ttee (BIC), Boar.d HR and Talent Management Committeg (MRTMC), 5t Meeting 19 September 2024
and Major Tender Committee (MTC). It is to be noted that, the current Board period started
in 2022 and ends in 2025. 6" Meeting 12 December 2024
7t Meeting 18" December 2024

Nomination and Election of Directors

The nomination and election of Directors fulfill the conditions set out in the Commercial
Companies Law, and Oman Investment Authority Code of Governance and its implementing

The Board Investment Committee (“BIC”)
As of 31st December 2024, the Board Investment Committee (BIC) consists of four non-executive members. BIC

regulations. met eight times during the year 2024 and the attendance record is tabled below:

The Board of Directors No of

As of December 31, 2024, the Board of ITHCA Group includes seven members, with four Name of Committee Member Position Meetings Notes

serving as independent directors. All members, including the Chairman, are non-executive, Attended

in line with the Code of Governance. 1 Eng. Atif Said Al Siyabi Chairman 8
2 Mr. Said Mohammed Said Al Aufi Deputy Chairman 7 Effective from July 2023
3 Mrs. Wafaa Ahmed Al Amri Member 7 Effective from July 2023
4 Mr. Sulaiman Khamis Hamed Al Rawahi Member 8 Effective from July 2023
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1st Meeting 18th February 2024 5th Meeting 25th August 2024
2nd Meeting 9th May 2024 6th Meeting 19th September 2024
3rd Meeting 11th June 2024 7th Meeting 13th October 2024
4th Meeting Tst August 2024 8th Meeting 12th December 2024

The Committee’s Terms of Reference

The Board Investment Committee (BIC) is appointed by ITHCA's Group BOD to assist in overseeing ITHCA's Group
investment portfolio performance, reviewing ITHCA's Group capital structure, reviewing policies, guidelines and
risk management, reviewing and recommending strategic investments. Also, the BIC is responsible to approve
the Due Diligence and Risk Assessment for new investment opportunities, approve investment and divestment
opportunities recommended by the Executive Management.

The Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC")

As of 31st December 2024, the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) consists of three non-executive members. ARC
met four times during the year 2024 and the attendance record is tabled below:

No. Name of Committee Member Position :llI::tfings Notes
Attended

1 Dr. Saoud Hamid Al Shoaili Chairman 4 -

2 Mrs. Wafaa Ahmed Al Amri Deputy Chairman 4 -

3 Mr. Said Mohammed Said Al Aufi Member 4 Effective from July 2023
1st Meeting 26th March 2024
2nd Meeting 13th June 2024
3rd Meeting 26th August 2024
4th Meeting 27th November 2024

The Committee’s Terms of Reference

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) is appointed by ITHCA's Group BOD to assist in fulfilling their oversight
responsibility to the shareholders. The Committee shall assist the BOD in the following:

Oversight of financial matters in general (interim and annual financial statements), and recommend them to
BOD for approval.

Validate and verify the overall efficiency of the Executive Management in implementing the operational
directives and guidelines set up by the Board.

Evaluate and monitor the adequacy of internal control systems and their efficiency.

+  Ensure that adequate policies/guidelines are created for safeguarding of human, material and intellectual
resources and assets.

Review the level of risk and measures taken by Executive Management to mitigate/manage the risk exposure.

Oversee and evaluate the performance of external auditors, maintain open and direct communication with
external auditors, the internal auditors, and management of ITHCA Group.
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HR and Talent Management Committee (“HRTMC")

As of 31st December 2024, The HR and Talent Management Committee (HRTMC) consists of three non-executive
members and met ten times during the year 2024 and the attendance record is tabled below:

No. Name of Committee Member

No of
Position Meetings Notes
Attended

1 Dr. Yousuf Abdullah Al Bulushi - 2 Resigned as Chairman in
March 2024

2 Mr. Sulaiman Khamis Hamed Al Rawahi Chairman 10 Chairman effective from
March 2024

3 Mr. Almutasim Said Al Sariri Member 10 Effective from July 2023

4 Mr. Mohab Ali Talib Al Hinai Member 6 Effective from March
2024

HRTMC Meeting Meeting Date

1t Meeting 271t January 2024
2" Meeting 30" January 2024
3" Meeting 16™ April 2024

4t Meeting 23 April 2024

5 Meeting 4 May 2024

6" Meeting 3 July 2024

7t Meeting 13" August 2024

8" Meeting 19 September 2024
9t Meeting 24 October 2024
10t Meeting 5t December 2024

The Committee’s Terms of Reference

The HR and Talent Management Committee (HRTMC) is appointed by ITHCA Group’s BOD to assist to:

+  Approve Organization Structure in accordance with industry best practices.

Overseeing the development plan and the delivery of the People strategy include for leadership and management,
culture, knowledge and skills development, performance management and reward as defined by DoA.

Approve Succession Planning for Executive's key positions as defined by the Organization structure.

Manage & approve the strategy of workforce planning, talent investment programs, the recruitment of Executive
Management, all relevant organization culture activities, organizational satisfaction, HR related polices/
practice, and any other cases raised to the committee that require making decisions as per the DoA.
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Major Tender Committee (“MTC")

As of 31st December 2024, the Major Tender Committee (MTC) consists of five non-executive members. MTC met
twelve times during the year 2024 and the attendance record is tabled below:

Name of Committee Member Position m::tfings
Attended
1 Mr. Almutasim Said Al Sariri Chairman 12 Effective from July 2023
2 Mr. Abdullah Mohamemd Al Abri Deputy Chairman 12 Effective from July 2023
3  Eng. Salim Said Al Alawi Member 10 Effective from July 2023
4 Mr. Ali Mohammed Abdullatif Member 11 Effective from July 2023
5  Mr. Talib Hamood Al Rashdi Member 10 Effective from July 2023

HRTMC Meeting Meeting Date

15t Meeting

13" March 2024

24 Meeting (by circulation)

21t March 2024

3 Meeting 16™ April 2024

4t Meeting 13t May 2024

5% Meeting (by circulation) 3 July 2024

6" Meeting 25h July 2024

7" Meeting (by circulation) 8" August 2024

8" Meeting 22" September 2024
9" Meeting (by circulation) 29t September 2024
10%" Meeting 20% October 2024
11% Meeting 14" November 2024
12t Meeting 2" December 2024

Remuneration of Directors

The sitting fee has been amended in 2024 as per OIA’s letter no. OIA/PRES/41/2024 dated 8th April 2024 where
ITHCA Group Board of Directors framed the sitting fees as follows to align with Remuneration and Sitting Fees
Guideline for OIA Entities Board:

ITHCA Group Board Previous Sitting Fee (2023) New Sitting Fee for 2024
and Sub-committees
Chairman of the Board 600 700
Board Member 500 600
Committee (including the 300 300

chairman of the committee)

Since legal form of ITHCA Group is SAOC, therefore, the sitting fee for the board and sub-committees capped at
OMR 6,000 per director (for the Chairman and Members).

32 Annual Report 2024

Governance System

ITHCA Group remains committed to

implementing governance

frameworks aligned with Oman Investment Authority (OIA) policies (refer
to the list of policies and guidelines) under Royal Decree No. 61/2020. By
harmonizing OlA's guidelines, ITHCA Group ensures high management
standards, effective oversight, and risk mitigation to maximize long-
term shareholder value. In May 2024, ITHCA Group received the OIA
Award for Excellence in the "Governance Compliance Framework"
category, recognizing its commitment to transparency, integrity, and best

governance practices.

Corporate Governance Framework

Procurement and Tendering Policy

In-Country Value / SME Policy

Information Security Policy

Legal Affairs Policy

Risk Management Guideline

Business Continuity Management Guideline

Internal Audit Guidelines

Media and Communication Guidelines

Valuation Guideline

Investment Policy

Investment Process Guidelines

Divestment Policy
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ITHCA Group’s portfolio

Infrastructure

Provides broadband infrastructure services by deploying and
operating future proof, environmentally green open access
infrastructure.

Providing a passive infrastructure to the wireless telecommunica-
tion service operators and government entities in an open access
manner.

Fulfilling the national requirements for satellite services.

JV with Cinturion, Trans Europe Asia System project (“TEAS”),
a submarine system connecting Europe and India, through the
Arabian peninsula.

Emerging Tech

Mubashir is a leading digital advertising network in Oman, providing
data-driven advertising solutions.

Cylera offers a platform to discover, assess, and secure healthcare
loT devices.

Onsor Technologies is a vibrant Omani startup engaged in
Emerging Technologies (IoT and Al) and the production of Personal
Computers.

FrontTech is aiming to speed up the digital innovation and drive
broad adoption of blockchain technology through introduction of
National Blockchain Platform11.

DTM aims to support the digitization of Oman leveraging strategic
partnerships, nurturing Omani talent and adopting leading
technological capabilities.

Oman Horizon is a vibrant startup engaged in building drones and
developing eco-system.

GSME.

0S0S
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Rihal
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Oman Yechnology Fund

Phazs\Ventures

D

ORYX FUND

“Z: Cyfr Capital

j dsoo0r

Powering Next-Generation Applications through Advanced-IC Design & Manufacturing
Solutions.

0S0S is focused on the development of a portfolio of enterprise resource management
(ERP) solutions tailored to specific clients, domains and use cases.

Rihal offers data management services addressing the data challenges of small, medium
and large enterprises.

An Omani based 3D printing company that specializes in producing Construction 3D
printers along with full fledge 3D printing workshop and educational arm.

eMushrif aims to be the first mobility choice for parents and students by offering the
utmost convenience, safety, and ride experience.

Venture Capital

OTF aims to create a vibrant VC industry, focused on promoting the technology startup
ecosystem and shall play an enabler role.

Phaze Ventures aiming to unlock the untapped potential of our region's youth, startups
and corporates. Investing in and support early stage technology companies from pre-
seed to series-A.

Invests across Middle East and North Africa, backed by SWFs and participation from local
and international family offices; focuses on early-stage companies.

Investing with a focus in sectors such as FinTech, HealthTech, Consumer Tech. With
exposure to USA and MENA and a focus on growth and late-stage companies.

Focuses on high-growth sectors such as FinTech, EdTech, Health Tech, CleanTech, Agri-
Food, and Logistics, with a regional expansion strategy
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Investment in Subsidiaries

As of the reporting date 315t December 2024, ITHCA
Group’s assets in subsidiaries are all incorporated in the
Sultanate of Oman and are as follow:

[ N
Oman Broadband Company - ITHCA Group shares 61%
SAOC (Oman Broadband) - Building broadband infrastructure
G 2\
[ N )
Space Communication Technology - ITHCA Group shares 100%
(scTm) - Building national capacity in space
\ \ technologies
0
[ 1r— ITHCA G h 100%
Digital Transformation Management roup shares ¢
Company LLC (DTM) - Innovative digital solutions —
q \ e-government services
0
N\
Technology Investment and - ITHCA Group shares 100%
Management Company LLC - Providing management services
(TIMC) to OTF
2\
N\
Onsor Technologies LLC - ITHCA Group shares 49%
(Onsor) - loT & Al solutions - PCs design
and production
2\

Investment in Associates and Financial Assets at
Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FAFVTPL)

As of the reporting date 31t December 2024, ITHCA
Group’s assets in associates are all incorporated in the
Sultanate of Oman and are as follow:

( - )
Frontier Technology LLC - ITHCA Group shares 49%

(FronTech) - Building technical capabilities in blockchain

and other technologies

ITHCA Group shares 20%

Data Migration and
Services LLC (Rihal)

Data solutions, Data management, RPA,
integration, and Al

I\,

ITHCA Group shares 20%

Integrated business apps, software and
technology provider

Prime Business
Solutions LLC (0SOS)

I\,

Oman Horizon LLC
(Oman Horizon)

ITHCA Group shares 25%
Design, assembly and build drones

Oman Towers
Company LLC (OTC)

ITHCA Group shares 10%
Building towers infrastructure - telecom sector

y,
)¢
Innovative Technology for
Innovation LLC (Innotech)

ITHCA Group shares 23%
3D printing

.

ITHCA Group shares 26%
Submarine project

Oman Data Networks LLC (DataOm)

- Convertible Note

- Aims to be the first mobility choice for
parents and students by offering the utmost
convenience, safety, and ride experience.

Tayyar Trading SPC (E-Mushrif)

>

- ITHCA Group share 34,25%
GS Microelectronics US Inc. - Powering Next-Generation Applications Through

(GSME) Advanced-IC Design & Manufacturing
Solutions

> <

. . . - ITHCA Group share 11.6%
International Live Solutions LLC A o d_p‘tl vertie workin O
. - eadin Igital aavertsing network in Oman,
(Mubashir) Jon ¢

providing data-driven advertising solutions.

> <

- Convertible Note

Cylera Inc (Cylera)

- Offering a platform to discover, assess, and
secure healthcare loT devices
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Investment in Venture Capital

As of the reporting date 315t December 2024, ITHCA
Group's investments in venture capital are all incorporated
in the Sultanate of Oman and are as follow:

[ Y ITHCAG h 78.6% )
Oman Technology Fund Holding ) roup shares 76.6%
Company SAOC (OTF) - Investment in emerging Omani
\ \ & non-Omani tech startups (VCs) y
0
é N . )
Phaze Ventures Fund | Limited - ITHCA Group shares 21.7%
(Phaze) - VC Investment in Oman, MENA,
\ \ and US y
0
- N\
[ h - ITHCA Group shares 20%
Cyfr Fund I LP (Cyfr) - VC Investment in Oman, MENA,
\ \ and US y
0
- N\
Salica Oryx Fund LP h - ITHCA Group shares 6.17%
(Salica Investments) - VC Investment in Oman, MENA,
and US
2\ J
(d
- ITHCA Group shares 15.46%
Jasoor Ventures LP Fund - VC Investment in Oman, MENA,
and US
0
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ITHCA Group Financial
Performance

ITHCA Group Financial
Performance

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Comprehensive Income for the Year ended 31st December
2020-2024

Separate Statement of Profit or Loss for the Year
ended 31t December 2020 - 2024

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Parent Company revenues reached OMR 12.7
million as compared to OMR 22.1 million from the previous year and the net profit reached
to OMR 6.7 million as compared to of OMR 14.1 million from the previous year. The net
profit was largely driven by financial income amounting to OMR 4.7 million, which includes
additional earnings from fixed deposits and call accounts. Additionally, dividend income
reached OMR 4.8 million, primarily from Oman Broadband Company, along with a notable
change of almost OMR 3 million in the net value of FAFVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group'’s revenues rose to OMR 56.8 million,
up from OMR 40.3 million in the previous year 2023. EBITDA attributable to ITHCA Group
shareholders increased to OMR 28.4 million, compared to OMR 23.43 million in the prior
year. The resilience of the Group’s EBITDA was mainly driven by the strong performance
of its key subsidiary, Oman Broadband Company SAOC, along with contributions from
financial income.

Revenue
Revenue
60 56.86
25 5514 50.75
: 50
40.36
20 S 40 3525
c —
s
é 1 12.9 £ %
= . Z 20
< 10 °
2 10
5.09 0
5 o 301 . 2021 2022 2023 2024
o ]
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
. . EBITDA
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period
30.00 28.4
16 25.50
141 25.00 23.43
14 . c
S 20.00
12 = 16.68
= 15.00
10 g
s 8 6.7 Z 10.00
= 6 5.00
x4
g 5 0.00 2021 2022 2023 2024
0 0.56 0.17 0.476
-2
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss without Liabilities

Impairment and Assets Revaluation for the Year ended

250
31st December 2020 - 2024 1o
200 1834
The Group achieved a positive profit of OMR 9.2 million in 2024 compared to OMR 3.2 million profit in 150 14208
2023 when excluding all assets impairment and the revaluation of other financial assets. S 131.67 -
S 100
s
S 50
Net profit/(Loss) without Impairment and Assets Revaluation (FAFVTPL) 0
' 2021 ' 2022 ' 2023 - 2024 '
9.2
9
8
7 Net Equity
6
s ° 250 214.5 216.9
= 4 2
s 33 32 5 00 17338 168.42
x 3 = 150
© 2 1.8 E
: Z 100
1 0.56 l © 5
0 I - T T T T 1 0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 ' 2021 ' 2022 . 2023 o024

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
for the Year ended 31st December 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024

As of the year ended 31st December 2024, the Group total assets increased to OMR 428.6 million
compared to OMR 397.9 million for the previous year and is mainly attributable to growth in the
investment portfolios and business activities of our key subsidiaries.

Total Assets

500

428.6
& 400 397.9
= 306.16 310.5
S 300
[a 4
S 200
o
100
0
' 2021 ' 2022 ' 2023 ' 2024 '
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Abo ut O m a n B roa d ba n d achievement; it is a catalyst for economic development, job creation, and a better quality of life for all Omanis.
I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our employees, partners, and stakeholders for their unwavering support. Together,
we will continue to shape the future of telecommunications in Oman and ensure that the country remains at the forefront of the
Company SAOC dgtelage
Thank you for your trust and commitment to Oman Broadband.

Eng. Sultan Al Wahaibi
Chief Executive Officer
Oman Broadband Company

Oman Broadband Company was founded in early 2014 and licensed under Royal Decree No.
10/2019 as a first-class operator wholly owned by the government, Government mandated

with building and developing the necessary broadband infrastructure in the Sultanate as
stipulated in the third pillar of the National Broadband Strategy Oman Broadband company
works in tandem with the concerned authorities and private sector partners to deliver that

vision thereby future proofing the online economy and investing in the digital potential of the Key Projects, Products/Services and Initiatives
nation + In Overall active connections has reached to 316K to date with a 18.96% growth from 2024
VISION: GOALS: +  Achieved 882 K Home passed by the end of year 2024
Enabling a knowledge-based digital Oman To reach every Omani residents. «  Achieved 93.4% of network coverage within Muscat Governate & 45.2% in Urban Areas
+  Supported Local SMEs through direct tenders with a value of OMR 12 Million & OMR 15 Million through
MISSION: VALUES: indirecttendering. _
To deploy an open-access ultra broadband Responsibility. Efficiency. Reliability. * Secured at le,aSt 220 lndlrgct jobs for Omaoms through contractors.
network, empowering knowledge-based Collaboration. Innovation. * Reached to high Omanisation rate of 99.5%
economic growth, social development, and
environmental sustainability in alignment with  coRg ACTIVITIES: Key Highlights on Financial Performance (2021-2024) Currency: OMR

the O 2040 Vision.
e oman son Rolling out our fibre.

Key Highlights 2021 (audited) 2022 (audited) 2023 (audited) 2024 (audited)

C EO WO rd Total Revenue 27,972,110 40,127,752 39,760,814 45,061,934

With our updated mission To deploy open-access ultra

broadband network empowering knowledge based economic Net Profit (Loss) 5,965,304 4,128,758 9,030,165 11,898,517

growth, social development, and environmental sustainability

in alignment with the Oman 2040 Vision we closed another Total Assets 202,421,473 222,782,400 267,173,043 303,328,140

transformative year at Oman Broadband, | am proud to reflect on Total Liabilities 112,841,939 128,374,109 168,792,999 201,049,576

our significant milestones and the strides we've made in driving ]

Oman's digital future. 2024 has been a year of immense progress Total Equity 89,579,534 94,408,292 98,380,044 102,278,564

and achievement for our company, and we remain committed

to contributing to the nation’s ambitious goals set forth in Oman Number of Employees 173 182 197 187

Vision 2040, , , , Omanisation % 98% 98% 99% 99.5%

At the heart of our progress is the expansion of our fiber-optic

network, which now connects 882,302 units across the country, Internship/Trainee 113 140 132 116

including 427,904 units in Muscat and 464,431 units in regions .

(Amount in OMR)

subscribers, and we're poised to reach one million units in the next three years, with a goal of achieving
over 97% coverage in Muscat and 50% outside Muscat. These efforts underscore our dedication to
providing reliable, high-speed connectivity that empowers businesses, individuals, and communities

alike.

Best Practice Best Fiber Optic Active
Our work has contributed directly to Oman’s ranking 22nd in the Telecommunications Infrastructure Index Award Network Enhancement Subscribers
according to the ESCWA report, an achievement that demonstrates the strength and resilience of our 8;arye:;qza;gsva&rizzosgfeSSiO“ K}ozr?hzi]jr”lggz\’/‘l"éﬁl%e Eastand & (2024)
network. Our fiber-optic infrastructure has become the backbone of the nation’s digital transformation, OlA-affiliated companies 266K (2023)
offering fast, reliable internet speeds, cost savings, and seamless access to services that are enabling
initiatives such as smart cities and sustainable development projects. We are not just expanding our
network—we are expanding opportunities for every Omani to thrive in the digital age. .
At Oman Broadbang, our s%oggss is built on our pyeople. We are proud of O?Jr 99.2% Omanization rate, +32% +12% 18.96% AN Soyered Housing
a testament to our commitment to developing local talent and fostering a skilled workforce. Through Net Profit Service Revenue Growth Rate of Active mE mt(32024)
initiatives like the ‘Masar’ program, which focuses on the development of administrative and technical 750K (2023)
skills, and the ‘Tamkeen’ program, which supports new graduates with training and job placements, we 93.4% Covering of Muscat Governorate,
are ensuring that our employees have the tools and expertise to excel in their roles. Additionally, our g oo and 45.2% of urban areas
partnerships with accredited international institutes allow our team to stay ahead of industry trends and 220+ Jobs 33 26% E as| 51%
bring innovative solutions to the market. This is how we create value not only for our company but also e L insupporting smalland o L nsupportng smalend o
fOI’ Oman as a WhOle. indirect jobs in 2023 Ejg\;eﬁzt‘:tégggion \(rlcéi;)e“::;g;gumon

Looking ahead, we remain focused on expanding our network further and enhancing the services we
provide. We will continue to invest in advanced technologies like Al and IoT to optimize our infrastructure
and offer unparalleled service quality. will ensure that broadband reaches underserved areas, contributing
to regional development and driving economic growth throughout the country.

As we look to the future, | am confident that the work we are doing today will continue to shape Oman'’s
competitive edge in the global digital economy. Our fiber-optic network is not just a technological
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About Digital Transformation
Management Company LLC

DTM looks to cement its role as the connective tissue between buyers (Our Clients:
Government Entities, OIA Companies and the Private Sector) and suppliers (Our Partners:
consultants, subject matter experts, system integrators, etc.) to be able to implement large
scale and complex projects, accelerate Government Digital Transformation, engage the local
market and commercialize modern solutions.

VISION: GOALS:

To be the partner-of-choice for To accelerate the deployment and delivery of
Oman's digital transformation Digital Transformation projects in Oman
MISSION: VALUES:

To deliver innovative digital solutions «  Partnership

for large scale / complex projects by «  Trust

leveraging on strategic partnerships, . ey

nurturing top Omani talent, and

adopti_n_g. leading technological CORE ACTIVITIES:

capabilities

+ Digital Transformation Accelerator
*  Project Funding
*  Project Management

Group Director + Procurement Excellence
Technology Word

Our vision is to be one of the leaders of Oman'’s digital
evolution by delivering innovative solutions through
strategic partnerships, nurturing local talent, and
leveraging cutting-edge technology. Over the past year,
we have made remarkable strides toward this vision.
Among our most transformative achievements is the
development of Government Unified Platform, which

has redefined how citizens interact with digital services.

Witnessing its journey from concept to implementation
has been a powerful reminder of why we do what we do—
simplifying lives, empowering businesses, and fostering
a smarter, more connected Oman.

Looking ahead, we are excited to launch the ‘National Suggestions and Complaints Platform’
and the ‘Government Unified Platform, both of which will revolutionize the way people engage
with government services. These initiatives will eliminate bureaucracy, enhance efficiency,
and ensure a seamless digital experience. Imagine a future where any Omani, Resident, or
Tourist can resolve government-related matters from their phone in minutes—this is the
reality we are building. Beyond convenience, these platforms will strengthen transparency
and trust, paving the way for a future-ready digital ecosystem.

As we move forward, we also plan to formalize strategic partnerships and establish Centers of
Excellence in Project Management and Procurement. By leveraging emerging technologies and
innovative business models, we are accelerating the pace of digital transformation in Oman.

But digital transformation is not just about technology—it is aboupeople. Every project we
undertake is designed to make life easier, businesses stronger, and government smarter.
None of this would be possible without our dedicated team, the steadfast support of our
Group CEO and esteemed Board of Directors, and the trust of our stakeholders.

| invite each of you—our partners, employees, and the wider community—to be part of this
journey. Together, we are not just building systems; we are shaping Oman'’s digital future and
ushering in a new era of progress and prosperity.

Looking ahead, we plan to launch the "National Suggestions and Complaints Platform” and the "Government
Unified Platform," formalize strategic partnerships, and establish Centers of Excellence in Project Management
Office (PMO) and Procurement. We see promising opportunities in leveraging emerging technologies, accelerating
the pace of digital transformation, and exploring innovative business models.

We are grateful to our Group CEO, esteemed Board of Directors, and our dedicated team for their steadfast support
and expertise. Together, we are ready to shape Oman's digital future and usher in a new era of prosperity.

Salah Al Rasbi

Group Director Technology

DTM Key Projects in 2025

Government Unified Platform and Tajawob platforms Go-Live on the 26th of February 2025
MAFWR Tharawat platform Go-Live planned for Q2 2025

Ministry of Education eServices Portal Go-Live

Consumer Protection Authority eServices Portal Go-Live

Auctions Platform Go-Live 2025

Key Highlights/Indicators (2022-2024) Currency: OMR
Key Highlights 2022 (audited) 2023 (audited) 2024 (audited)
Total Revenue 559,647 1,971,816 6,965,363
Net Profit(Loss) (1,863,368) (1,812,643) (2,320,007)
Total Assets 563,081 840,996 701,244
Total Liabilities 2,176,449 267,007 2,447,262
Total Equity (1,613,368) 573,989 (1,746,018)
Number of Employees 13 13 11
Omanisation % 100% 99% 100%
Number of Awarded Projects 3 5 12
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DTM Strategy

Objective

Pillars

Activities

Enablers

To deliver Innovative Digital Solutions for large scale / complex
projects by leveraging on strategic partnerships, nurturing top
Omani Talent, and adopting leading technological capabilities.

BUILD SCALE

Leverage
partnerships with
MTCIT and OIA

Expand to private
sector with new
Products &
Services (P&S)

ENHANCE CAPABILITIES
AND CREDIBILITY

Develop in-house
technology expertise
(e.g., emerging tech)

Build partnerships
with emerging tech
platforms

Demand |
(e.g., Digital
Transformation)

Policy and
Regulations

‘ Digital ‘
Infrastructure

Governance | Funding
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About Onsor Technologies LLC CEO Word

In 2024, Onsor set out to do something truly extraordinary, which is to change
lives. We pushed the boundaries of what is possible, leveraging the power of
neuromorphic computing to build solutions that don't just improve industries,
but they redefine them. And this year, we took a massive leap forward.

Onsor is a vibrant technology company that is revolutionizing the way businesses and
individuals access and utilize technology. Our IoT solutions allow customers to have
complete control and visibility of their assets and systems, enabling them to optimize
operations, reduce costs, and improve overall performance. Our computing solutions are
crafted based customers requirement for a modern working environment. We strive to be
the go-to provider of innovative, reliable, and cost-effective technology solutions.

We delivered the first version of our revolutionary seizure prediction device,
a healthcare innovation that has the potential to transform life for 50-70
million people living with epilepsy. For millions of people with epilepsy, life is
unpredictable. But what if it did not have to be? Imagine a life where people

VISION: GOALS: with epilepsy can plan their day with confidence, free from the fear of sudden
To be a trusted and innovative leader in + Launch Neuromorphic computing product episodes. Where independence isn't just a dream, it's a reality. That is the future
emerging technologies. by 2025, with commercial readiness by we are creating.
2026.

. * International business to grow by x3 in
MISSION: 2025 g y And while our official launch has been pushed to February 2025 due to logistics, make no mistake, we delivered.
To accelerate the adoption of emerging S The technology is here. It works. And it is going to change everything.
technologies across all customer Attain minimum of 6 IPs by 2026.
segments, by Regarding growth. Injust one year, Onsor’s sales skyrocketed by 301%. It is a great testimony of customer acquisition
delivering cutting edge 10T, computing VALUES: success, trust and powerful customer retention.
products and solutions. + Innovation: Innovate and create the latest

The future is even more promising. We are securing medical approvals to bring our seizure prediction device to
market within 18 months. We are laying the foundation for AloT solutions powered by neuromorphic computing,
intelligent systems that will transform automation, decision-making, and efficiency across industries. We are not
just adapting to the future; we are designing it.

technologies to provide solutions that
empower people and corporates, enabling
them to achieve their goals with ease and
maximum efficiency.

Our commitment to Oman remains strong. We are investing in local talent, forging partnerships with Omani
SMEs, and ensuring that our impact extends beyond technology and into the economy. Our commitment to social
responsibility shines through our efforts in job localization with 56 highly talented employees and trainees by the
end of 2024. This journey would not be possible without our incredible team, our visionary clients, and the partners

who believe in what we're building. Together, we are not just innovating, we are going beyond to create life changing
solutions.
— o ‘ Maadh Al Hinaai

Onsor Technologies, CEO

Computing and loT solutions:
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Business Strategy - loT

With relatively low maturity of loT marketin Oman, Onsor's strategy to enable this sector was to build a customizable
loT platform and deliver/show value of adopting high-tech solutions to have data driven decision making, reduce
operational hurdle and waste, have full visibility and control of the overall business. This platform is being further
developed to be customized with Low or no code to scale it to different customers and expand vertically.

2021-2022  Develop the loT platform. With the following main features:
+  Low code or no code customizable deployment.
Design the platform to interact with major industrial loT communication protocols.

Build Business Intelligence to quantify metrics like cost reduction and predictive maintenance.

2023 De-risk the decision making to deploy such technologies by delivering PoCs that shows value
for the following applications:

«  Facility and infrastructure.
Vessel monitoring solutions.

«  Smart factory automation.

2024 +  Generate the first $1M from initial deployment.
Fully deploy the PoCs.

Set the ecosystem around solution to prepare it for mass deployment.

2025-2026 -+  Scale vertically locally and regionally.
- Targeting $4.7M/year in revenue by end of 2026.

Business Strategy - Computing Solutions

The strategy is architecting a future where computing solutions evolves around experiences and making personal
computers more personal. Onsor is also paving its way towards the future of Al computing, by developing Neuro-
inspired computing for next-gen Al. Neuromorphic computing offers a leap in processing power and efficiency by
emulating neural pathways. This brain-inspired technology promises to make Al more intuitive and responsive,
profoundly enhancing our interaction with the digital world. It could drastically shrink the size of Al systems while
slashing energy use, offering powerful Al capabilities in smaller, more sustainable forms.

2021-2023 ¢  Local product market fit.
«  Start scaling unique products.
Build customized industrial computing solutions.
«  Kickoff research in neuromorphic computing:
Develop an Al application with prediction accuracy 95%+.

Reduce power consumed to more than 300+ times.

2024 +  Expand regionally and build global partnerships.
+  Scale unique customized solutions.
Scale in at least 2 countries.
+  Launch neuromorphic computing project and share initial results.

File patents.
2025 +  Position the company as leader in customized computing solutions.
Start developing, building and testing early neuromorphic hardware.
«  Productize first neuromorphic computing application.
2026 +  Scalein all GCC countries.

Set the first date to announce a neuromorphic-computing based product.
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Smart loT Laptop Charging Carts For Ministry of Education

Overview

Smart loT laptop charging carts are innovative mobile storage and
charging solutions designed to house multiple laptops, ensuring
they are always charged, secure, and ready for use. These carts
enhance traditional IT labs in educational institutions by offering
mobility, real-time monitoring, and efficient device management.

Features

Monitors cart and device status to ensure optimal performance and availability.

Automates charging management for efficient energy use and device readiness.

Triggers alerts for missing, disconnected, or malfunctioning devices to enhance security and response times.
Tracks cart connectivity and usage across schools for efficient asset allocation.

Monitors power consumption to optimize energy efficiency and reduce costs.

Provides a unified view of carts and devices across all schools and regions.

Tracks the number of active and inactive devices for better capacity planning and troubleshooting.

Impact

Enhances education and work efficiency by providing mobile, fully charged laptops for seamless digital access.
Reduces energy consumption and costs through smart charging management, preventing overuse and
optimizing power distribution.

Improves security and asset protection with real-time tracking, lockable storage, and automated alerts for
missing or uncharged devices.

Streamlines IT operations by automating device monitoring, reducing manual checks, and improving resource
allocation.

Empowers decision-makers with loT-driven analytics for better device utilization, maintenance, and future
planning.

Figures and Facts

Number of Data Points Per Cart: 7

Number of laptops monitored : 19,480 Laptops

Number of Carts: 600

Initial Phase: Cover 435 Schools

Goal: Expand to the remaining schools in Oman as part of the MoE digital transformation plan
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The launch of NEXA, Next Gen Al Powered by Neuromorphic Computing Onsor — Key Highlights on Financial Performance (2021-2024) Currency: OMR
For over 50 million people living with epilepsy, life is unpredictable. But what if it didn't have to be? NEXA is the first

seizure prediction solution powered by neuromorphic computing, a technology that doesn't just analyze data, it Key Highlights 2021 2022 (audited) 2023 (audited) 2024 (audited)
thinks and processes Al workloads with low power and compact size. (audited)

Total Revenue 4,807,794 463,301 1,525,618 1,632,810
Real-Time Seizure Prediction:
NEXA is the first seizure prediction device in the world. This innovation is protected by an IP. It leverages Al-powered Net Profit/Loss (Loss) (304,024) (929,293) (3/407,876) (1,592,592)
neuromorphic computing to analyze brain activity instantly, providing early warnings of potential seizures. Total Assets 3.459,794 4,283,698 2187131 6,161,888
Wearable & Non-Invasive: Total Liabilities 3,296,885 4,385,524 5,696,833 11,264,182
Monitoring Unlike bulky EEG setups, NEXA integrates dry Total Equity 162.909 (101,826) (3,500.702) (5,102,294)

electrodes into smart glasses, offering continuous,
comfortable, and discreet seizure monitoring.

Al-Driven Personalized Insights:

Machine learning algorithms tailor alerts based on individual
brain activity patterns, enhancing the effectiveness of
epilepsy management.

Market size:
Oman: 50K Patients
GCC: 400K Patients
World-Wide: 50 Million Patients
30% have uncontrolled seizures

Current Figures & Statistics
*  Model based on 18 Patients
90% Prediction accuracy
10+ hours battery life
Up to 1-Hour Prior Prediction
4 Non-Invasive EEG Probes instead of 21 in the 10-20 system
1,000x Less Power Consumption

Goals
Model based on hundreds of patients, in partnership with MoH
98-99% Prediction accuracy
24+ hours battery life
Launch by 2026
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About Space Communication
Technologies SPC

Space Communication Technologies LLC was established by the government of Oman in
November 2018 with a mission of spearheading the national satellite program initiative
by building national satellite communications infrastructure and developing required
capabilities to serve public and private sectors, coping with their immediate to long-term
telecommunications needs.

VISION: GOALS:

To become the leading space solutions +  Support the national broadband

services company providing solutions initiative.

that are Robust, Integrated and Secure «  Building National Capacity in Space
Technologies.

MISSION: +  Launching Omani First Satellite.

To provide secure integrated space .  SCTtobecome a center of excellence

solutions that would cater the needs of our and a household name.

clients and proactively initiate innovative
means to solveT problems .faced today VALUES:

by the users. With establishing a culture

embedded with our core values, we invest Unity Innovation
in our human capital to deliver our clients
the optimal solutions

Excellence Commitment
Integrity Proactive

Executive Director Word

I am incredibly proud to announce that SCT has reached
a significant milestone: we have reached the break-even
point. This accomplishment is evidence to the hard work,
dedication, and resilience of our entire team . Reaching
this milestone not only validates our business model but
also positions us for sustainable growth and profitability
moving forward. We are excited about the future and
remain committed to delivering value to our customers,
stakeholders, and employees.

Today, the company is reaping the fruits of its

accomplishments over the few years of its existence. It
B4 is considered a pioneer in Oman in providing innovative
s solutions in the field of satellite communications.

It has a customer base exceeding a thousand subscribers in residential internet services
via satellite. In addition, the company provides integrated solutions to its partners in the
telecommunications sector in Oman, especially network backhauling services. The oil and
gas sector, being the backbone of Oman's economy, has also benefited from the company's
services, as we have worked to provide satellite connection solutions between production and
exploration areas and the main headquarters of companies working in this vital sector.

The company believes that the future is bright and promising, and we are committed to
maintaining our distinctive reputation and developing our relationships with our current and
future customers. We believe that the spirit of teamwork that we adhere to is the foundation of
our success, and our solid partnership with our customers as part of ITHCA Group adds value
to our journey.

Finally, the company is characterized by a team with exceptional skills, and we would like to
express our thanks, appreciation, and gratitude to the company employees for their diligent
efforts in providing our services to the fullest.

Salim Said Al Alawi
Space Communication Technologies
Executive Director

SCT at a Glance
+ A government company owned by ITHCA Group
Established in November 2018

+  The company’s aim is to proceed with the implementation of the national satellite project and the provision of
satellite communication services

+  The company aims to build the national infrastructure for space communications and developing the capabilities
required to serve the public and private sectors in a way that suits the needs of these entities for long-term
communications services.

Products & Services

+ Passive Space Capacity
Managed Communication Services Government Encrypted Solutions
VSAT Services

+  Colocation & Hosting

+  System Integration
Remote sensing & Satellite Imagery

Market Analysis

Rural Areas: Mobile backhauling, Passive Broadband.
Complementing existing infrastructure to support higher demand.
«  Government/ Military Solution Services.
+  Disaster Recovery Applications.

Marketing Strategy

«  Building Market awareness & Increasing Brand visibility.
+  Presence in Domestic & International Events.
Go to Market Approach & Educational Workshop for users.

Future Vision

Internet of Things (loT) satellite connectivity facilitates global and reliable communication between loT
devices by utilizing satellite networks, enabling connectivity in remote and challenging environments.

Earth Observation Expansion & Analysis Services is the collection and analysis of data about the Earth's surface
and atmosphere using remote sensing technologies to gain insights into various environmental phenomena
and support decision-making processes & provide full reports based on the analysis produced by the company.

+  Variety of Capacity solutions, aims to explore different satellite capacities to enhance its communication
capabilities, expand coverage, and meet the various demands.

«  Teleport colocation, which involves establishing land-based facilities for satellite ground stations, enables satellite
companies to expand their global coverage, offer value-added services, and generate revenue through hosting,
maintenance, and strategic partnerships.
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Key Projects, Products/Services and Initiatives

Projects Closed in 2024

Expanding strategic partnership via contracting with XOM (Qil & Gas).

Unveils advanced remote sensing services through contract with Minerals Development of Oman

Expanding Vodafone business network with new backhauling site via satellite.

Growth of mobility vertical by providing of state of the art equipment to Government entities (multiple contracts)

Projects/Services in 2024

Integration testing of Mobile terminals with SCT Network for strategic partners.
Execution of maritime contract to Royal Navy of Oman

Introducing remote sensing services to potential customers

Initial approval granted for Class 1 license

Initiatives and Key Developments 2024

Expanding strategic partnership via contracting with XOM (Qil & Gas).
Unveils advanced remote sensing services through contract with Minerals Development of Oman
Expanding Vodafone business network with new backhauling site via satellite.

Growth of mobility vertical by providing of state of the art equipment to Government entities (multiple contracts)
Renewal of support services to government entities

Renewal of Afaaq Contract

Renewal of Ku capacity contract for security agencies

70 Annual Report 2024

SCT - Key Highlights on Financial Performance (2021-2024)

Currency: OMR

Key Highlights 2021 (audited) 2022 (audited) 2023 (audited) 2024 (audited)
Total Revenue 1,469,244 2,251,071 2,737,327 2,046,548

Net Profit (Loss) (1,641,633) (517,422) (309,003) 364,646

Total Assets 12,132,669 11,964,622 11,018,330 5,890,564
Total Liabilities 11,749,527 11,098,901 10,361,613 4,869,201
Total Equity 383,142 865,720 656,717 1,021,363
Number of Employees 24 23 25 19
Omanisation % 95.8% 95.6% 96% 95%
Internship/Trainee 17 19 21
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SAOC
Directors” report for the year ended 31 December 2024

To' the Shareholders
Dear Sirs,

On behalf of Oman Information and Communication Technologies Group SAOC (the
“Company™), the Board of Directors of the Company is pleased 1o prasent to you the Directors'
report for the financial vear ended 31 December 2024,

Overall performance

As a continuation of what was achieved in 2023, the Group has continued working to develop the
performance of its companies, raise their efficiency and enable them fo contribute effectively o
the economic system o ensure the best returns for the Sultanate, During 2024, the Group signed
several investment and partnership agreements with local and intemational parties with the aim of
expanding its investment portfolio and supporting the ICT sector in the Sultanate.

Among the most prominent of these projects and achievements during the year 2024 are as follow:
Divestment and New Investmenis:

ITHCA Group is advancing its divestment strategy by initiating the sale of an additional 10% stake
in Oman Broadband Company while preparing the company for an [PO fo enhance its market
presence. Additionally, the Group has fully exited Oman Towers Company, selling its 10% stake
to a foreign investor for 4.2 million Omani Rials, achieving an exceptional return on its initial
mvestment of 0.317 million Omani Rials.

In March 2024, ITHCA Groop invested in Mubashir, a leading digital advertising network in
Oman, to support its growth and enhance its data-driven advertising solutions. Additionally,
ITHCA is a partner in Future Fund Oman, a 2 billion O'mani Rial investment fund established by
the Crman Investment Avuthaorty and the Mimstry of Finance o boost economic diversification and
private sector growth. [THCA is manoging 8 million Omani Rials of potential investmenis within
the fund, contributing to venture investments and SME suppor. Additionally, the Group closed
the investment deal through convertible promissory mote in 2024 in Cylera - XIoT & loMT

cybersecurity provider in the healtheare industry expanding to Oman.

ITHCA Group Investment Expansion:



[THC A Group is expanding its invesiment operations into the Gulfl and U5, markeis to ganerate
finoncial refumns and support the ICT sector. Key myvestments imclhede:

s GSME - G5 Microelectronics 1.5, Inc.: In late 2023 and early 2024, ITHCA invested 38
million for a 34.25% stake in a U.S. semiconductor design company. The company
established a design center in Muscat, launching the "Oman-1" and "Oman-2" chips in
2024,

¢ Jagoor Ventures: Launched in April 2024 with 3180 million in capital, this fund is 8
parmership between Abu Dhabi Developmental Holding (ADQ) and Oman Investment
Authority (O1A), represented by ITHCA. It focuses on high-growth sectors such as fintech,
edtech, healthtech, cleantech, agri-food, and logistics, with a $25 million commitniant from
ITHCA and & regional expansion stralegy.

Erinciple Activity

The Company is a closed Omani joint stock compeny registered since 11 December 2018 in
accordance with the Commercial Companies Law in the Sultanate of Oman and is wholly owned
by the Dman Investment Authority o be an investiment arm of the government in partnership with
the private sector, The main activity of the Company is 10 promote investmenl operalions in the
digital economy and emerging technologies such as artificial intelligence, internet of things, smart
cities, huge data, Blockchain and other modem technologies.

Einancial performance

Group Consolidated Performance: As of December 31, 2024, the Group experienced o 41%
mmcrease in total revenoe, reaching 56.8 million Omani Rials, in comparison to the previous year's
40.3 million Omani Rials. Consequently, the Group achieved a profit of 5.5 mullion Omani Rials
by the end of 2024, a significant tumaround from the 3 million Omani Bials loss recorded in 2023,

The incrense in revenue and net profit is mainly driven by stronger sales from the Group's
subsidiaries, particularly Oman Broadband Company and the Digital Transformation Managemeant
Company, by the end of December 31, 2024, Furthermore, there was a rise in income from the
Group's fized deposits and cash in on-call accounts. At the same time, the Group and its
subsidiaries were able o optimize the operational expenses in 2024,

Parent Company: As of December 31, 2024, ITHCA Group holds a solid financial pesition,
ullowing it to support its investment activities, including new projects, completing ongoing ones,
and expanding future ventures.



The attached financial statements for the period ending on December 31, 2024, for the ITHCA
Group included financial position statements, income statement, changes in equity and cash Qows,

Dividends
Mo dividends were paid or proposed to be paid during the year.
ng Congern

ITHCA Group has a healthy financial position with fixed deposgits, cash and cash equivalents of
RO 94 million placed with local banks, in order to finance its mvestment operations, whether in
new projects, new investment opportunities, or in completion of previously approved projects or
expansion of future projects. The Group has net current asseis of almost RO 97 million at the end
of the year ending on December 31, 2024, which is sufficient for the Group 1o continue a5 a going
Concern,

LGovernance Systems

ITHCA Croup remaing committed o implementing governance frameworks aligned with Cman
Investment Authority {OLA) policies under Royal Decree No. 61/2020. By hammonizing OLA's
guwidelincs, ITHCA cnsures high management standards, effective oversight, and risk mitigation
o maximize long-term shareholder value. In May 2024, ITHCA received the OIA Award for
Excellence in the "Governance Compliance Framework" category, recognizing iis
commitment o transparency, infegrity, and best governance practices.

Social investment and job localization

Im 2024, TTHC A Group achieved over 99% Omanization, prioritizing local tnlent recruitment and
traiming 90 trainees through its Tembesn program. From the social investment activilies, the Group
allocated OMRE 40,000 to the Oman Charitable Organization and supporied varicus social
ivestment's initiatives. The Group also played a key role in fostering innovation by participating
the Oman Drone and Al Competition in collaboration with Sultan Qaboos University and
MOICIT. Additionally, it co-hosted the SCALE Award at Comex 2024, supporting over 100
startups, and strengthened Oman's global presence by sponsaring the country’s pavilion at Expo
Japan 2025,

Future vision

In 2025, ITHCA Ciroup will continue its stralegic divestments, partially in Oman Broadband Co.
and fully in Oman Towers Co., while focusing on enhancing its investment portiolio in emerging



technologies, cloud services, digital transformation, and broadband expansion. To strengthen its
position as a key investment pillar supporting Oman Vision 2040, the Group will refine its strategy
to drive ICT secior growth through ecosystem development, venture capital, and strategic projects.
Key focus areas include HealthTech semiconductars, Al 10T, Blockchain, FinTech, and BioTech,
aiming for sustainable and profitable growth in the technology sector,

Thank you

In conclusion, we extend our heartfell gratitude to the Oman Invesiment Authority (OLA), our main
shareholder, for s continwous support and strategic vision, which have been instrumental in
achieving these strong results. We also sincerely thank our fellow Board members for their
leadership, as well as the executive management, employees, and subsidiaries for their dedication
and hard work. Looking shead, we remain confident in the Company’s vision to sustain strong
performance, achieve further growth, and continue its success in alignment with the wise
leadership of His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarig. May the Almighty bless His Majesty with
good health and wellness and guide us toward continued progress and prosperity for our beloved
nation and itz people.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

e

h\l}[M Akrnbl Dr. Saoud Al Shoaili
Chairman Director

26 3 en S
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ndependent auditors report

To the Shareholder of Oman Information and Communication Technology
Group SAOC

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ve have audiled (he consalidated financial statements of Omean information and Communication
Technolagy Group SADC (“ihe Compary®) and Hs subsdiaries (“ihe Group®), which compnse the
cormoldated atatemant of financia! postion as 81 31 Dacamber 20024, the consolidated statemants of profit
or less and other comprahensae incame, changes in aquity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
nabes, comgrising matarial accounting poficies and athar axplanatary mformation

In our opinion, e accomganying consalidated finencial stetements present fairly, in il matenal respects,
thi consokidalad financial posiien of the Group a8 at 31 Decembar 2024, and it consolidabad financial
performance and s consalideted cash fiows for the year than ended in accordance with IFRS Accodnting
Standards &5 issued by the inemational Accounding Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Sandards)

Basia lor Opinion

Wia conducted aur audd in accordance with Imernational Siandards an Auditing (15A88). Our respongibililes
under those standards are furlber described in e Avaiiors’ Responmbiiles for e Accd of he
Coansoldaled Financis) Slalemants seclion of aur reparl We are Indapendent of (ke Groug in accondancs
wilh e Imemalional Eilics Standards Seard for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for
Prafesaional Accounianis {incleding Inbernational Independence Siandards) (IESBA Coda) together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to owr sudit of the consalidated financial statemants in the
Sultanate of Oman, and wea have fulfilled cur other ethical responsibiliies in accordance with theses
requiramants and tha IESBA Code. 'We befeve that the audit evidence we have oblained & sufficient and
appropriake ta provide a basis g our apinion

Other Informatson

Management s responsile for the abher information. The ather infarmation coimgrigas the Directors'
rapor.

Cwur apinior on the consolidatad fnancial statements does not cover the other infomatisn and we do nof
exprass any form of assurance conclusion thenon

Canlinted anr pagne 8



Continued from pege &

Oither inforrmalsen (oanin

In eonnecilan with our audit of the censolidated finandcial statemants. our respansibeity s 10 rasd the alhes
information and, in daoing so, consider whathas the other infomation is matedally iInconsistent with the
conaolidated fnancial statements or our knowledge ablained in the audil. or clberwise appears (o be
matarially missiated. H based on the wark we kave perfarmed, we canduds that there |8 8 matarial

misstabament af this olber indsrnaton, we ane requirad to rapor that fact. We have nothing 1o repart in this
regard,

Responsibilities of Manzgement and Those Charged with Governance lar the Consolidated Financial

Flatements

Managernen i respangible lar the preparation and fer presantation of the consolidated financil
slalements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and thair preparation in complance with the
applcable provisions of the Commercial Companies Law of 201% and the Ministerial Decision 1452021,
and lar such internal control a3 management determings i necassary fo enable (he praparation of
consalidated financial sitatermants that ane free from material misstatemant, whether due (o rawd o amor.

In preparing the consalidated fmancial statements, managemant is respensible for assessing the Group's
abibly o continue as & going cancem, disclosing, as applicabla, matbers relaled to going concam and uaing
fhe going concern basis of aceaunting unless managemant eithar intends to kquidate the Group or to ceasza
operations, or Nas mo realislic atemative but to do 5o

Thagse Charged with Gavernancs are responsdle for oversaaing the Group's financial reporing process

Auditors’ Responsibilises for the Audit of the Cansolidated Financial Statemenis

Oiur aljectivas are lo ablan regsenable sssuramse about whether the consohdated financial staternants as
a whiole ane free fnorm matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or arror. and 10 issue an auditers’ repon
thal includes owr opinlen. Reasonabde assurance i a high lovel of assurance. b is not 2 guaranies thal
an sudit conductad in accordanca with 1586 will abways detect a material misstatemant when [ exists
Misstatements can arise from fraud or erroe and are considered maledal if, individually o in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expecied fo influence the economis desisions of users laken on the basis of
thase consalidated financial statemanls

As part of an audd in accordanoa with 1528, we exercse professional judgment and mamtain professional
skepteism throughoud the audt, YWe alsa

= gantify and azsess the faka of maienal misstatement of the consolidaied financal statemends,
whather dus to frawd or amor, design and perform awdit procedunes respansive to those risks, and
abtain audit evidence thal is sufficient and appropriabe fo prowide & basis for our opinion. The msk of
nat delecting a makeral misstadement reswling from fraud is highar than for one reeuling from arror,
as fraud may involve eolusion, Torgery, iMentisnal omisssans, misrepresentetions, ar the oweride of
nbernal contml,

—  Dbiain an undemsianding of inlamal centrol ralevant fo the awdit in crder to design sudit procedunes
it ara appraprigte inthe croumsiances, but not for the purposa of exprassing an apirsan on the
affectivenass of the Group's infernal contral,

= [Ewaliata the eppropietenass of acoounbing policies usad and the reasanableaness of accaunting
aslimates and related disclosures made by managemend,

Conhinwed an page T
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Aupditors” RetponsiBdhities for the Audit of the Cansalidated Finaneal Slatemants @

—  Caonclude on the appropriatenass of managsmant's wse of tha gaing concern basis of accaunting and,
basad on tha sudit evidence obiained, whathar 8 material wncertainty exists related o events ar
condifions thai may cast significant doubt on the Group's abdity to continue as a going concem, |f we
conclude that a material uncertainly exists we ane reguired to drasw attantion in our auditars’ reper to
the related disclosures in the conselidaled fnancial statemends o, if such disclosures ang inadequate,
ba madify cur opirsan, Cur condusions are based on tha audd awdencs chtained up 1o the date of our
audilars’ repon, Hosaver, ulune events ar condilions may cause the Group bo ceass 1o conlinue as a
@oifg concem

= Evaluste the overall presentabion, structure and contenl of the consalidated nencial statameants,
inciuding the disciosures, and whether the consobdated inancial slalements represent he undarying
traneactions and events in a mannar that achieves fair presentation.

—  Plan and perfarm the group audit fo obiain sufficiant appropriate awdi evidanca reparding the
financal information of the enlites or usness uits within the group a5 a basis for Torming an apinion
on the group finandal stdements, We are resporsible for the direction, supervision and review of ha
audit wark performed for puiposes of e group audi, W remam solely respansible for ow audil
CpiniRan,

W communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among othar matters, ihe planned scops
and timing of the audit and signdficant awdii Endings, including any significant deficiencies in intarnal contral
fhat wa idenbfy during aur audit

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

W raper thal these consalidated financial elatements camply, in all material respects, with the appicable
Flrl'.'l'l'|3|l'.'ll'ﬂ o the Caommearcial CEH'I'IP.I.['HH! Law of 2019

Further, as reguired by tha apphoable provisions of the Commencial Companies Lew of 2019 and tha
Ministanal Dacegion 1462021, we rapart hat:

(il war hiave obiained all the information and sxplanatons we considersd necassary far the purpeses of
aur auds:

(i e Group hes maintairad accounling records and the financial S1aements are i agresment
tharessiih;

(ily i Group hes camied cut physicsl varficaton of invertones;

{iv) b fimancid informaabion incluged in the Direcions’ report s consistent with the books of accounis of
the Group; and

(v] Bbased an the information Ihal has baen made avadable to s, nalfing hat camea o sur atlention which
CAUSES US ko bedeva that the Company hes conlravemed during the year enged 31 Decernber 2024
any of the applicable provisions of tha Commerncial Compandes Law of 2019 ar of s Articles of
Association which would matarially affect the financal parformance andor is financial position as at
31 Decamber 2024,

l. .",'r.'.l F ]
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SAOC AND

ITS SUBSIDIARIES

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSTTION

AS AT DECEMBER

ASBETE

Non-garrenl assely

Property and eguipent

Right-ol-use wse

Iniampgetde assess and goodwill

Ecuiity acvonisted inieites

Fiuansial assets ot fair vlus teomgh profic oF loss

Curreni assety

Inveniosis

Trde and cther reocivables
Cantracl asscis

[ froen refated pasties
Term dopasits

Cach and caah equsvalents
Fetenlson receivables

Taotal assels

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Bhare capital and reserves

Share capital

Legal msarve

Refoined samings

Equity attribuinhle to fhe swners of the Company
Mon-costnellmg men

Nel equiry

Hioez

ol K

14

33

024 o
RO RO
160,652,455 725,963,250
3,905,159 4,5 190
386,302 265,652
5373178 1,784 0FR
_ Bamen786 33055354
03013747 03,306, G04
655,340 (AR E )
36,804, 186 23435320
235 966 T30 4
1,601,108 1,139 300
25,381,147 71,148,254
68,939 040 16,194,443
% 40,10
134,650,707 135,604 R3%
478,564,530 397.90) 513
153,045,172 153,045,173
7,633,191 5681 295
12,767 23
174,345 660 171,819,014
42,547,143 42,618,084
116,892,003 214.537.008




OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP BADC AND

ITE SUBRSIDLARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITHON {continued}

AS AT I DECEMBER

LIABILITIES

MNan-current Rabilities

Horrowings

Condracl katxihiese

Lease [abilides

Deeferred tax liablities

Provigien for eanployvess” end of service benefits

Current lahiligies
Trade aml cdier payabies
Boerowings

Comiract Eabilitics
Cusrrnnt lax finbilites
Lzase lakdlitics

Dhia ba relaed party

Total lahidities
Tedal equity and liabilicies

CHAMMAM

b M

g ”O RO
) [0, TTE, 564 1335 5 54
L5 s LIl 128992
L5 2,917,041 B,931,701
] 0,900,945 B AEE 05
] 124,450 106AT9
a0y 15T565e3E
1 15537,025 B8,
i7 71, 550 KA11506
L 3,108,798 TRE 250
9 #R5,197 T Rd?
" 1062 08T 1166700
1 B3 B 642
__ 3166150 __ 0687
21671536 1HIlee 434

428,564,535 A%T.301,522

The consotidarad fnmeal smements slong with notes and ather explanstory islenmtion an pages B w55 wome
spproved by the boand af direciors oo 26 Manch 2015 and wene ggned an thelr behalf by:

= % DIRECTOR

The noses and ather explasatory informrarion on pages 14 o 55 form an integral part of these cansslidaned Finasial

sinlements.
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SADC AND
ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

1014 202X
Hote R R
Revenoe from contract with customers 23 10346582 6,274,195
Infrnstructure lease income 2 JO607, 043 34,473 978
Bt fair valos loss on financisl assets al fair value through prolit
ar loss 23 (2.511,255) (0094130
Irterest from dehl securities at Feir value through profit or foss 13 20088 130
Governement subsidy b} 100, 0D 1 S0 00HD
Finance income 8 Ba401 569 326,797
Cithver income: 27 2,030,717 1,013,462
56877254 40,363 128

Operading costs k4 (12,311,508 (6,574,607}
Seaff coms 1 (9,400, 142) (9,191.485)
Depreciation

O Bssels ] { 14,150,312 {1EDG1,164)

Right of use assets ® (1,10, 13 &) (1,538.234)
Amortization of intangible asssls 7 (25 656) (21 1.256)
Cither expenses Hy (4. 872215) [£724,562)
Impairment loss in finasclal assciy ER N (662, TH2) (274,558
Impairment loss an myventory 4 . (1048303 1)
Impairmnent loss on goodwill T . (78311
[mpaimment less on inveitment in equiny accountad veiee 12 {529.5310) {13,604
Fimance costs 281 (SAED,B63) (5,633.473)
Share of net loss of investments I equity accounted investee 22 (130062 {507,104}
Profit / {boss) before tatation TIN659T [£.535.201)
Taxation L (1640, Ta4) (430,395)
Profit { {boss) for the period 2 475503 (2060, Tob)
(Hher comprehensgive income = -
Total ewmprelensive income [ (boss) for the period 5475903 (2 Do4 THE)
Profit ! (boss) atiribatable te:
Cramers of the Parent Company 2,426,646 (1.014,904)
Mom-controlling inferesis 35 3,048,257 [ 1,254 852)

5,475,903 (2065, T96)
Total camprelbensive income [ (boss) attributable to:
Oramers of the Pasent Company LA G46 CH, 04,904
Mon-controlling imerests 35 3049257 (1,554,892
5475903 (2,960, 796)

e naotes and piber explanatory information on pages 14t 55 Tanm an integral part of thse consalidated financial
stalEmenrs

[ndependent auditars’ repon - pages 5107
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ALAN [NFOHMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHROLOGY GROUP SADC AND ITS SUBSTINARIES

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 51 DECEMBER

Cash flows frem sperating activities

Pl (Boss) for the penrd

Adjustments for:

Taxation

Depreciation of propety and cquipment

Amitizstiom of intmmgible st

Depreciation on nght of wse asseis

Finanes ingome

Finance cosls

Sheme of Loss inequaty sceounied invedsios

Impaiment [oss on financil assels

Imgaimment Inss on invenlory

Impairment loss om goodwill

Cinin oo modification of kease

Impstirmenl loss om gty sounied invesie:

Med fadir value gaims on finnncial ascets ot far valoe theough profi or loss
Enferest from debi securiies @ B value thiomgh prof oF loss
Employsos” end ol service benefits

Changes im:

Hivenmnres

Treede and other roceivahles

Rezizntion receivahles

Comirsc] dssers

Trade and other pavables

Comtract Habilzies

Caush generabed from operaling scivitio
Encoene pax pakl

Emplovees’ end ol service benefits pasd
Met cash from operatisg activites

Cash flows frem investing activities

Acogasition of propaty amd equipeend

Inierest receved

Adgasinion of istangible asscis

Acquisition of finoneia assets o fair value teough profit o loss
Procezds fiom partial disposal of subsideary
Froceeds from disposal of financal asssts ol G value through pralis or boss
Proceeds from disposals of peoperty and equipment

Iestriel i fgudly ascoiiled mvesies

Macermend of lerm deposils

Proceeds fiom term deposits

Nt cash used in investing mctivities

Cash flows from finmncing activities
Drividends paid

Interest paid dering the penod
Hopervenent o [ tenm |G
Proceeds from lomg tem lows
Paymen of leass liohilitics

e froen related parties

Thist 1o related parties
Finance cost paed on lease labdlines
Nl cash Troos Tisancing sciivimes

Met ineremse in cash and cash equivelents
Cash and cash equivalents o | Janusry
Cash and cash equivalents ar 31 Decem ber

Mg

I::E';uuud-ﬂ

&

B B -

IT
7

1%

12

13

204 Flirk]

[i{1] 48]
475,003 (2,960, TI6)
16400, T 4305935
14,150,311 12,061,164

123,656 211,256
0109, L3 1,538,234
(5,691,509 (3, 126,797
5,089,963 5633473
1501 52 S07, 104

HEE.THL 274,558

- 1085031
. Th311

{53L,683) .

539,551 13604
2,511,255 B004 034
(212, 18%) {106 E30)

18,050 144.221
206,206,524 21,864,202
(el 154 1419616
(13,935,486} (12,469,532}
£0,104 -

491,518 (9T
4 661,115 (3,305,151}
2,950,108 16,743
1,070,310 7.X1.41]
(301,803 {313.2%T)

2 {58,513}
HEGEESG 6,921,621
(46, 240,317) (38 096,657
S.5TILS6X 3,756,835

{344,506) +

{3 450,018) {1,581,837)
= A0 080 402
645 2480
4 85D -
(3.060,438) (1013402
(11220, 028) R ARE LR
H7 AWM D 25403 341
{1,658 000 ) {23,339, 558)
(3.119,5938) -
{7238, 606} (4.5685,593)
(8,111,516} {3.130,411)
AT 9R7 A5 48,730 406
{1,162,395) {1.408.052)
{1,492 RO%) [PB0 369
(2,796} -
114,654
11,630,617 I8 051,325
30,841,464 261 L0ER
38,008,485 16,455
8 930,945 A%,19

The notes and ather explanatary information on pages 1440 55 form an insepral pam of thess consolidated finencial

slapemends, Independent auditors” report - pages 5 1o 7.
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SAOC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1024

1 Legol sistus and principal activities

Oman Infermation dnd Communization Technology Group SAOC (“the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries
iopether (the “Group™) ane prmarily engaged in various activities in the felecommunication sector including
develop the infrastructure and providing an integrated network of broadband in the Sultanate of Oman using
optical fiber or other alernative eehnology, trading of computers and computer accessocies and undertake all
other sctivities necessary far this purpose.

The Parent Company was estabbished in accordance with the anncuncement of The Ministry ol Transpart and
Communicstions. Ministry of Commerce and Indusicy is=ued i3 administeative decisson Mo, G2 licensing
1o establish the Parent Company a5 o closed joint sock company. The Parent Company was incorporaled as &
chosed joint stock Company on 11 December 2018 As & part of the consolidation of the Information and
Communication Technology sector by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman, certain entifies that were oamned
directly by the Government or Govemmient owned entities have besn trapsferred to the Parent Company as of |
Janusary 2021, The iransfer of subsidiaries has boen accounted for under the predecessor basis of accounding as it
is considered a common contral transsction {refer note 2.2 for detaibed accamnbmg palicy )

I'he share capital of the Parest Company is whaolly cwned by the Government of the Sultanote of Oman shrough
Omean Investment Avthority (the “Ultinote Parent Company™ or “0IA™L Oman Investment Autherity registered
office and principal place of busmess is sissied s PO, Bow 1E4, PC D00, Sultanabe of Croman.

The couniry of incorperation and principal octivities of the sehsidiaries and jeint ventures of the Parent Compary
ane st ot helow:

Share Share

Comnmiry of Bolding  helding Frincipal activities
At 31 Decem ber mewrporation  I024 2023
Bubsidinries L o
Oman Brosdhand Company SAQC Oman &1 6l Oiptiic fibre netaark related seraces
Space Communication Techoobogy
S Ciman LiH) 1001 Satellite szrvices and sobe of terminnls
Technzlogy Investment and
Mlanagement Company LLC Ciman LLE] 1 ;;fﬁl:::l:mlm ol mennpse
Onsor Technologles LLC Cimnan 4% 45 Trading of computer equipment
Oinan Techrobogy Fund Holding
Company $A00 Clenan TRE TRA Investment hMansgement Company
Digital Transforemation
Mlanngement Coonpany LLC {lnan L] 10 To provide oruckes refaled svices
Juimt ventore {node 22§
Blockchain Solubioas and Services . .
LLC Chnas A & Development and scrviées in the IT

SECiOr

Asseciates (nofe 22)

i r Conver! and migrate arganizations from
Umﬂgﬂlun and Gervices LLC O 20 an & document-based mentality to & robast
(RIHAL) date inesatalily

: . Leadimg Omani 15V and  solutions
P SaW OIS g m W organization  previding  solutions 1o
( ) mudusiries of differsne types and sizes,

. Comgpany is working in Sports, Henlth
Chman Horlzon LLC Clman 25 el Chibs hisslnsies seiiitties.
Insovative Technalogy for 211 21 The company is mvalved in 31D printing
Inmavation LLC Chman bechrabogy in nexl estate development
The company spechalizes o data centie
Cenan Date Metwork LLC s 26 L]

systemns and glohal connectivity lines,
The company spoclalizes In global
G358 Microelectronics U8 Inc United Stated 3425 - supply of integrated-circuit design &
nanufacturng soluibors.
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SAOC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED M DECEMBER 2024

z Summary of material sceounting policies

The principal accoumting policies applied in the peeparation of thess cansolidated financial stsements are
surmarised below. These policies are consastently applisd for all the years presended. unless etherwise stated,

11  Bask of preparation
fa)  Commiamce with [FRT

The consolidated finamcial siatements are prepared i accordance with Intemational Financial Reparting
Stamdards (IFRS), interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpeefations Commuttes [IFRS 1C) and the requiresnents
of the Commercial Companics Law of 2009, The consolidated financial siatements comply with TFRS as bsued
by [nternational Accounting Slandards Bosrd (IASB) The consolidsted finsncial statements have been presemted
in Rials Cinani (RO™), which is also the functional currency of the Group

Bl Hishorical cost comvention

Theese consolidated financial statements have heen prepored on & historical cost basis excepl where atherwise
described in the scopunting policies below.

fch The preparation of consolidated financial mutements in conformity with [FRS requires the use of ceninin critical
pocounting estimates 1 alse reguires managemenl bo exercise 2 udpement in the process of applving the Group’s
secoanting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgemenl or complexity, or aress where asiumgplions
and estimates are significant to the conselidsted financial sttements ae disclosed in note 4,

el Mew siondards or ameadmenis foe 3000 ond forhooming requireneents

[n the current vear, the Ciroap has applied 2 number of other amendments o [FRS Standards and Imterpretations
isswed by the [nfemational Accounting Standards Board {EASH) that are effective For an anoual pervod that beging
om or after | lamuary 2024, The adoption of the follewikg [FRSs have not had any material impact on the
dischosures or an the amounts reporied in theie fnancial statements and a5¢ lBeed below.

Standard or Interpretation Tithe EMective Date
Amendments w [AS 1 Moo-curreni  liabilities:  with 1 Jameary 2024
cowenants, amd Chaszlfication of
lizhilities ns current ar pop=current

Amemdments 1o LAS 7 and IFRS Y Suppber financ: arrangements | Jamsary 2024
Amendments 1o [FRS 16 Lease himbility in 2 sale and 1 January 2024
leasehack

el Mew gad revised IFRE (u tesue but nor pt effeetive

Stamdard ar Interpretation Titke Effective for annwal years
beginming on or after
Amemdments te [AS 21 Luck of exchangeahility I Jamuary 2024

Amemdments 1o [FRS 9 and IFRS T Classification and measarement | January 2026
of finarcial insnmenis

Vilame 11 Annual improvements to [FRS 1 Jomuary 2026
accounting standards

[FES IR Preseninbion and disclonmre in IJuu.u.r}' Hxy
finanicial statements

IFRS 19 Subsidiarios  without  public 1 Jamsary 2027
pecountahilicy: disclosures

Amendrments to IFRS 10 and (A5 28 Ssle o¢ contribution of assests Awvailable far ctionnl
between  mvestor  amd s adopionefecuve  dme  deforred
assdciate or joint vennare imdefinitely

There are no ather IFRS standards, amendments or interpretations thet ane expected fo have a material impacd on
(e Ciraup.
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUF SA0C
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3 DECEMBER 2024

T Semmary of material accounting policies [ﬂlll.m.l:-!'d]
2.2 Boziz of consclidsiion
vl Busimess oo binatiog

The Grfvag secoants for business combinations under comman control using the predecessar accounting, where
conirel is fensferred 0 the Group from the sharebobders ander commoa control The principle basis of
predecsssor necouniing are:;

= Asgsets and lishilrtizs of the acquired entity are stated at predecessor carmying vahes from the date of
tramsfer. Foir value measuremend is not required,

= Monew goodwill arises n predecessor accounting,

= Any difference bevwesn the considerstion given and the agpregale carmying value of the assets and
linhilities of the soquired entity at the date of the trenesetbon i ineloded inequity in retatned earmings or
in A GEpaTae reserve,

Farthe nnqu:'in:d entites outside the {iroup, the camstderation transferred in the a::qu:'.m.iﬂu B gurh'ﬂ]!}- s umed
at fafr value, as ang the identifishle net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested anmually far Empairment,
Any gain o @ bargain purch&se is reeogiised oprofis or loss immediaisly. Transsctions costs ane expensed &5
ingurred, exept if related s the izsue of debt or equity securities,

Thix consideration transferred does nol inclede amouss related 1o e settlement of pre-existing relationships.
Swch amoents are genseally recopnissd in profit or loss

ih Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all emtities {including structured enlitios) over which ﬂlr;gn:rup b ol The ﬁml.lp Ccodibrils
an emlity when the Group s exposed o, or has rights fo, varinble returms from itz involvemnent with the entity and
hias thee ability Lo alfect those seturas theoagh s power over 1 entity. Subsidiarics are fally comsolidated from
the date on which contrel is transferred to the Group, They are deconselidaled from the dale that cintrol coases,
Lopaszes applicable 1o the nos-controlling interests in a subsidiary are afiribaied io the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the man-comerallng interests baving o defien balance.

Upan loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and Dabilives of the sabsidiary, any non-contrelling
inserests and the other components of equity ralated to the subsidiary. Any surplus ar deficit arsing on the loss af
contril 15 recognised inthe conselldated stabement oF comprelansive income, I the Group retams any inferest on
entity that was a subsidiary in the pas, then sech intzres is measured gocording w IFRS % after the control is lost
Subscguently. it is secounbed for as associae, joint venture or as o financial nsset depending on fhe level of
influence relened.

The financial staiements of the subsidiaries are prepared for i same reporthivg vear as the Parent Comipary. usang
conalstent accounting policies.

fel e arrangerienis

Under IFRS 11 Joing Armangemenls investments n jeint amenpements are chassifled as eniber joint operations or
it ventures, The classification depends on the contrectual rights and obligations of ench investor, rather than
the legal structure of the joinl smangemenl

Crroaap has azsessed the nature of it polat amrasgements and determined them i be joint ventures. [nterssts in poimt
ventures are accounted for using ihe qql,lil:_l,' methed, after imitially being recognised af cost in the consodidated
balanes shget
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUFP SAOQC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1014

2 Summary of material accommting palicies (contineed)
1.1 Beasts of consolidation (continued )
fuli Exquity marind

Under the equity method of accounting, interests are mithally recognised of cost and sdjusied thereafier to
recoprise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or keses and mavements in ather comprehensive
income, Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventunes ars recognized ns a reduction in the
carrying amoand of the mvestment. When the Group's share of losies in & joiet venture equals or exceeds its
imberest 10 the jeinl verdured, ielisding any other unsscured lang-term receivahles, the Group does nol recognis:
fumiher bosses, unless it has mowmed ohligations or made pasmvents on behall of another entigy.

Unrealised gnins on ranssctions between the Group and its assoclates and joind wenbures are eliminated to Ehe
exctent of the Group's intersst in these entities, Unrealized loases are also eliminaied unbess the ransaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset mansferrad. Accounting pelicies of the eguity accounied invesiees have
been changed where necessary 10 ensure conséstency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Where there has been a change recognised direcily in fhe aquity of the joint venture, the Group recognises it
share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, ia the profit or loss section of the consolidated statemen
ol conprelensive income,

{l Trenractions efimemared on consalidaiioe

Inter-company transsctions, balonces and unrealised gaind on tansactions befween group companies are
eliminaned. Unrealised losses are ako sliminated. When necessary, ampunts reposted by subsidianess are adjusied
o confiorm o the group's accaunting policies.

i Nor-camiradling inferesis

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not resalt in loss of control are sccounted for &5 oquity
transactions — thal is, as transactions with the owners In their capacity as owners. The difference between fair
value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquined of the carrying valoe of net assets of the subsidiary
#% recorded & oequity reserve atributable to the parent. Gaing or losses an disposals to nen-conlrolling interests
are alse recorded in equity reserve alttributabde to the parent.

g {ansolidation of investment emiity

The Ciroup hes a subsidiary which meets the definition of on investment entity ender the provisiors of [FRS 10
Consolidated Financinl Statements and thevefare does nal consolidate the controlled invesiees The Paremt
Company doss not qualify a5 an imvesimend entity undsy IFRS 10 because, amongst odher things, U8 purpsoss 15
nod b imvest funds solaly fior capital appreciation andfor investment ngome,

In the subsidiary’s financial satements, the controlied mvestess are carmied at fair value throagh profic or loss;
howewer, the Parent Company consolidales all of the controlled Investess, inchiding the subsidiary,

1.3 Foreign currency Lransclion

Tramsactions in forelgn currencles are ranslated into Riol Omaoni ot the exchange rbes at the dates of the
transactions

dlomemry axsets arl liobilities denomisaied in forcign curenciss are translotsd into the Rial Omani at the
exchange rate a1 the reporting dae, Mon-monetary amets and [Eabilithes thut are neasured af fair value in & foreign
currency ane translated Into the Rial Omani at the exchange rate when the fuir vahse was determined. Non-
manetary items that nre measured based e historical cost @ a fonzign curreney age translated af the exchange raie
st the date of the ransaction. Foreign currency differsnces are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented
within finance costs



]
OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUFP SAOC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1 Summary of materin]l sccounting policies {eontinaed)

L4 Property nnd equipment

Property and equipsent are stated at cost less accumulabed depreciation less any identifled impairmest losses if
any. The cost of property and equipment i3 the purckese price together with any directly aitributable costs of
bringing the asset 1o the location and conditian necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Subsequent coss are listleded in e asset’s carying amound or recognised ns o separsfe asgel,
as approgriate, ondy when it is probable that future economic bemefits associated with the Bem will fow o the
Giroup and the cost of the fem can be mensured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 1o the
coraelidated statement of comprebensive mcome dariag the financesl period in which they are incurred.

Dieprecintion is calculuted 5o as w0 write aff the cost of property' and eguipment on o sraight live hasis over the
expected wieful sconomic lives of the assets concerned. The estimated uselul lives ane &5 follows

Yeurs
Fiber oplics 20
Office and other equipment I=]5
Furnitire and fixtures 5%
Mlotor vehicles k!
Home connection 20
Buildings b

Ciires and Wosses on disposal of property and squipment are desermined by reference o thelr canrying amounts
and are taken into account in determining aperating profit

The carrving vahies of propery and equipment are reviewsd for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the camying valwe may nol be ecoverahle, IF any such indication exists and where the
carrying values excesd the estimated recovernble amount, the assets ane writlen down o thelr recoverable smount,

Capital work-io-progress is camied at cost, kess any recognised impairment loss. This incledes cost of
corstructicn, property and equipment ond oiber direct costs nssociated io constrection. Whed commissioned,
capitnl work-in-progress is transferred o the sppropriste categorics of property and squipment and depreciaied in
accondance with depreciation palicies,

1.5 [lIntamgible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets aoquired in a business combination are recopnised separately from goodwill if they:

s meet [FRS 3'a general recopnition principles - assets acquired and lishilities sseumed are recopeised if they
meet the definition of an a1 or Habdlaty i the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, and
® are idendifiahle.

According bo LAS 38, an acquinsd intangible ssset B dentifiahle if it meats sither of the following erileria:

%  Contracruabbegal = arising fram contractual or legal rights, regardless of whether these rights e tmnsferable
ar separable from the entity or from ether rights and obligations

s Separshle - capable of being separated or divided from the acquires and sold, trnsferred, Leensed, rented ar
exchneged sither individually or together with a related condract, identifinble asset or liahality

Intongitde assets other than goodwill that have been scquired and have finite lives are measured at fair value upon
acqubsition less sccumulated amortisstion and any sccumulated impairmeat losses.

Irtangitde &ssets represent the cost of acquired computer seftware and the related license cost, Intengible assetis
measured al cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulaied mparment ks i any. Amortization s
recognised m the consolidated statement of compeehensive income on 6 straight-ling basis over three years



1
OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP SAOC
AND ITS SUBSIIMARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1024

2 Summary of material scesunting policies (comtinued)
2.5 Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
Crooeatll!

Goodwill on scquisitions of subsidiarics is included in ntangible assets. Coodwill acquired in a hasiness
combinatian is initially measured at cost beng the excess of the consideration paid over the Group's intrest in
the net fair value of the separatcly identifiable assets and liabilitees acquined. Following initial recogrifion,
goodwill is measured a1 cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairments,
enpually, or more frequestly i events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carmyving wilue may be
impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired I a business combination is allocsted to each of the
Group™s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergics of the combination, imespective of
whether other nxsets or lahilifies of the Group are assigned 1o those units or groups of units, Each uit or group
of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the bawest level within the Group at which the goodwill
s mapitered for infernal mansgement purposes.

Impairment is determined hy assessing the recoverable amoant of the cash-generating unil (group of cash-
generaling wnits), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable smount of the cash-generating uniL (group
of cash-generating units) is bess than the caryving amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill
fiorms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generuting units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss oit disposal of the aperation. Goodwill disposed m this circumsiance
i3 measired hased on the relative valuss of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-genenting unit
retained.

The recovernhle amount of a cash generating unit (CCHU) b determined based on value-in-ase caloulations which
require the use of assumplions: The calulstions use cazh flow projections based on financial feeecasts approved
by the Board of Directors, contraciual cash flows and projections by the manygement wsing industry repees,
cansultart's forecast and other data available to the manegemend.

16 Finamcial msiruments
fil  Recogmition aid Initial measurement of financiol (nsremens

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated All other financial assets ad financinl
Habilithes are initialty recogalsed when the Group becomes & party to the contraciual provisions of the instrumeal
A financial ssset (unbess it is a trade receivable without o significant financing component) or financial lishility
ts measured initizlly ar fair valee ples or minus, for an fem not & fair value through profit ar bess aceoust,
transaction costs that are directly sttributable to s acquisition ar issue

The principal financial instrumests used by the Group, from which finaneiak insbrument risk arises, are as bellows

Trede and other receivakle

i"ash and cash equivalent

Baommwings

Trade nned ather payables

Teerm dipodit

Financinl assels at fair vaiue through profit or loas
Drue from  to relsted pasiics

. A

{ii) Classifieation and iifial measorement

Fingneiel asnelr

O initial recognition, a financial asset i classified as measured at amortised cost; fair value through other
comprehensive income [FVOUCT] = debt instruments; fair vakue through other comprebensive income - squity
instrumants: or fair value through proflt or 1oss account [FYTPL]
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| Summary of materkal sccounting paolicies (continaed)
1.6 Financial instruments (comtinued

() Classification snd initial messwrement (continged)

Financial nssets ars not reclassified subsequent 1o thear minzal recognition unless the Groap changes s business
model for managing financial assets; in which case all affecied fnancial assets are reclassified on the first day of
the first reparting period following the chanpe in basiness model,

Finamcial assets — Burinesy mode! arsesimmenl

The Group makes an assessment of the shjective of the business model in which a finanginl assef is held 21 0
portfolio level becase this bess reflects the way the business & maneged and information @5 provided ©
maragement, The mformation considersd includes:

= The stated policess and abjeetives for il partfolic end the operations of these palicies n praciice.
- How the performance of portfolie is evaluated aml reporied o the management

. The nsks that affeet the performance of the business model and how these rske are managed.

- How managers of the business are compensaied.

. The frequency, volume and timing of sale of financial essels in prior perinds

A Tnancial asset s messemed ot nmortised cost i€ it meels both of the following conditions and &5 nod designnted
as al fair vale through prafit or less acoount

Basinzis model st The objective of the entity's business model i5 o bodd the financial assed to collect the
canviractual cash flows (rather than to sedl the instrument prior to its contractual maturity to realzze its fair value

changes).

Cash flow charncteristics test The contrecizal terma of the financial asset give rse on specified dales ta cash
feaws that are solely payments of principal and mberest on the principal smoust oustanding

Finmcial assets af foir walee terough other comprehiensive income

Equity instraments which are net held for trading or isswed as contingent consideration in business combination,
end for which the Group has made s irrevicable election at initial recogmition w recogriss chonges in fair value
through other comprehensive income rather than profit or foss. This eleclion is made on an investment-by-
imvestment hasis,

A debt investmend is measared =10 FYOC] i 18 meets both of the following conditiens and it is nol designated as
at FWTPL:

It is held within u business mode| whose phjeclive is achieved by botl collegting controchunl cashflows and
selling financial assets: and

= Its contractual ferms give rise on specified dates to cash Mows that are solely peymemts of primcipal and
imterest of the principal amount ousstanding.

Financial aesels ol fale value through prafit or loss accowt

All fimancinl ossets nod classified a5 measared at amortised cost or fair valus throsgh other comprehensive income
as described above are measured 3 fair value through profit or boss account. This inclsdes derivative financial
nEsels

O il recogaition, the Group may imevocably designate a finencial asset ihal otherwise meets the
tegairements to be measured af amorised cost or ol FWVOCT &2 ot FWTPL if doing =0 elimmates or significantly
reduces an aceounting mismatch that woukl olfierwise ariss
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3 Summary of materksl accounting policies {contimmed)

2.4 Financial instruments (continueid
(i} Classification and initiol messurement (eontinued)
Financial Fabiliries

Financial liahilities are classified as measured at amortised costoF feir value through profil or boss. A finsncial
finbility iz classified a5 an falr value through profit ar boss if it is classified as held-for-tradisg, it is 8 desivative or
it b3 designated ns such on initial recognitica. Financial liabilities a8 FVTPL are measured o Fair value and net
gains and losges, inchuding any interest expense, are recognised in profic and loss, Other fimancial liabilitics are
subsequently measuned al amortized cost wsing the effective interest method. Interest expense and forcign
exchange pakn and Josses are recognised in profit and loss. Any gein or loss on derecognition is also recognised
in profil or loss

{ii] Subsequent measurement and gain or osses of fimancial assets

Fmoncial mrsets ar aneorrised coer;

These assets are swhsequently measured ot amartised cost wsing the effective mteredt nsethod. The amomised cost
is reduced by impairment lesses. Imterest income, forcipn exchange gains and kosies and Gmpasrmsend ane
recognised |n the profit or loss account, Any gain or loss oo denecognition s recognised in the profit or loss
abcaunt,

Finamcan! mrsets af fair valve through ofer compreeliensive Income

al  Debi irsfruments

These ssels are subsequently messured a1 fair valie Interest income caleulated wsing the effective inmerest
method, foreign exchange gaing and lodses and impairment are recognised in the proditar ks accourt. Other pet
gaing and losses are recognised in the stalement of other comprehensive ncome. On derceognition, gains and
[ases accumulated in the satement of other comprehensive income are reclassified o the profit or leas sccount.

inl Eguity fmstrumeats

These assess are sobsequently messured al fabr vahie, Dividends are recognised a5 imoome in the praflil oc loas
account unless the dividend clearty represents a recovery of part of the cost ol the investment, Dsher net gains and
Insses are recognised m the satement of other comprehensive income ond are pever reclasified to the prefit or
loss aceon,

Fimarcial asnets of fair vatue r.hrm*gﬂrpnuﬁr e fass

These asscls are subsequently messured ot foir value, Met gains and losses, including any intersst or dividend
income, are recognised in the profit o loes account.

(vl Subsequent measurement and gals or bosses of financial lixhiligies

Fenasclal liabilites sre subsequently measured ot nmortised cost using the effective interest method, if applizable
The effective interest method is the metbod of calcolating the amortised cosl of o lnencial lEability asd of
allocating interest expense aver the relevant pericd. The effoctive nterest rabe is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated futune cash payments through the expected life of the fnancial liahility to the net carrying amound on
initial recognition

Irierest expene and Foréips exchangs gaing and losses are recognised in the profil or ks acoount. Any gein of
leas on derecognition is also recognised in the profit of 08 accound.

{vi Reclssification of linascial assels

The Ciroup will oaly reclassify financial assets if, and anly if, the objective of the busisess moded for moenaging
those financinl nssets is changed. Such chunges are expected o be very infrequent as these changes musl be
significait to thse Group’s operntions ark demonstrable to extemal parties

If the Group determines that its husiness moded bas changed in o way that is significant 1o its operations, then it
reclassilies all affected assers prospectively from the first day of the next reporting persod (the reclassification
date). Prior periods are not restaled.
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z Summury of material sccounting pelicies (continued)
26 Finamckal instruments (continwed)

(vl Reclssification of fnancial lEabilities

The Group determines the classification of finamcial labilikes on mitlal recogoiton. Subsequent reclassilication
15 ool adbenwied.

(with Derecognition of fnancial assets
The Growp derecognise financial asset whemn:
i) The contractual rights o retsive cash fows fooun the finsenclal assel have expired, of
by The Groap tronsfers the right bo receive the contracteal cash fows ina transaction (s which either:
Substantialiy all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financinl asset are tronsferred; or
The Group nejther transfiers nor retains substandlally all of the riaks and rewards of awnership and i1 does
aol ritadn contred of e fnancial asel.
The ﬂn‘mp enilers imlo ransactions whmvuh-}' il irarsdiers asssls recagnised in s siaternend of financeal |:-|1.i'i'|:'||;|na|1r (=114
reinins gither all or substnntially nll of the rsks and rewards of the transfemred assets. In these cases, the transferred
asgefs are mat derecopnised,
{viii) Derecogniton of financial Habilities
A Tmancial lability is derecogmised when the contractual ehligation smder the liability is dischanged or cancelled
ar expired. The Group also recognizes a financial labiliey when it terms are modified and the cash fows of the
madifiad lability are substanbally different, in which case & new Fnancial linbility hassd on the modified szrms
is recognised at fudr valee

On dereciognitbon of o financial liability, the difference between the camying amouni extinguished and the
cansideration paid, including amy non-cash assets transferred ar labitides assomed, is recogaized in profit or lass,

fix} (hifsetting

Fmancial asers and financial [iahilities are offset, and the net amound reported in the stalement of financil
pasition if, ard only i

- theare is a currently enfrrceatle legal right 1o offset the recogrized amounts; ard
seee is an imenthon to sebe on a net kasis, or w eealise the assets and settle the liabilities samulianemasky,

(1) Impairment of financisl assets
The Group recognizes expecied orsdit loss on fioancial asssis measured af amrtized gost, copiract assars
recelvables, lease recelvables snd debi invesimenis ab FYOUCT, but not on mvessiments in equity instruments. The

financinl assets o amartized cost consist of trade receivables and cash and cush equivalents,

The Uroup measwres loss allowance al =0 amound 1:|:|:|.|.u] i lifedime ECLs, except Tor the Following, which ane
messared a5 |2- month ECLs:

- Dieht securities that are detenmined 1o have kvw credil risk =t the reporting date; ans
- Cither debt securitics and bank balances for which credit ak (i.e, the rsk of default sccurrng over the
expecled hife ol the finarcial imstrumeni} has not incressed significantly since indtinl recognition

Luss allowanee for trade recedvables and contract assets are always measured 2t an umiant equal o lifetine ECLs,
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2 Summary of materisl accounting policies foomnimed)
1.6 Financial instrument [cominped)
ix} Impairment of financial axsets (continued)

Geperal approsach

The Group applies a three-stage approach 1o messiring ECL. Assels migrate throagh the three sages based on
the change i credit quality since initial recognition. Financial pssets with significant ingrease in credit risk sioce
iniitial recognition, but not credit impaired, are transitioned to sage 2 from stage 1 and ECL ks recognized LET
on1 the probability of defoult (FD) of the counter party oceurring over the life oof the aspet, All otber finencial assets
are considered to be in stage 1 unless it is credit impaired and en ECL is recogaized based on the PO of the
custopner within rext 12 months. Finencial adsets are assessed as credit impaired when there s a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash fows of the fimancial asset, The Group applies genernl appresch 1o all
financial assets except trade receivable without significamt financing companent.

Sigr(ficant imoreane i credit risk

When determining whesher the credit risk of a financial asset has increassil signrificantly since initial reco@mition
and when estimating ECLs. the Groap considers reasonable and suppernable information that &5 relevant and
pvailabbe without undue cost or ¢ffort. This inclodes both quantitative and qualitative mformation amd anatysis,
based on the Ciraup's historical ewperience and informed credit assessment and including forwards looking
miarmation.

Iefandr

Thie Company considers a financial asset 1o be in default when the borrower is unlikely tir pay its enedis obligations
1o thee Giroup in full, without recosrse by the Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held) or
based an the ceriadn delinguency perind {days past due].

Simpdiited approcch

The Group applies ssmplified approach o messuring credit losses (ECL), which mandates recognition of lifetime
expecied loss allowance for trade receivables without sipnificant financing campanet. Under samplifisd
approach, there is no secd to monitor for significant increases it exedin risk and the Growp will be required i
measure lifelime expected credit losses ot all 1Emses.

Credis- impaired financial asels

At each reparting date, the Group asseages whether financaal asseqs carmied at ameeiised cost are credil impaired.
A fikancind asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one of more events that have a detrimental impact on the sstimated
futare cash flows of the financial asset have ooourred,

Write-off’

Thie gross carmying amount of a foancial asset 13 wrikien off {either partially or in fill} 1 the exient that there is
o rezlistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debior does mot
lsave assats ar sounces of income that could gencrate sufficient cash flows 10 repay the amounis subject to the
swrite-pfT. However, financial assets that are writhen off could still be subject 1o enforcement activities in arder 1o
comply with the Group's procedures fue recavery of amounts dus.

1.7  Cash and cazh equivabents

For the purpnse of presentation in the consolidated staiement of cash fows, cash aned cash equivalents includes
cash in hand, cash at hanks, deposits held at call with financial institutions, sther short-term, net of bank overdrafl,
highby liquid investments with ariginal maturities of three months ar less that are readily convertible Lo knawn
arneunis of cosh and which are mabject 16 an insipaificant risk of changes in value.
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1 Summary of material accounting poliches (coniimed
28  Employees’ end of service benefits

Erud of serwice benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employmeant of the Group's cinplovess at the
reparting date, having regard to the requircnvents of the Oman Labour Law and its amendments and [AS 19 -
Employee henefits 25 amended. Emploves entitlements to annual leave and leave pasage are recognised when
they acerue to emplayess and an accrual i made for the estimated lability arsing as a result of services rendered
by employess up la the reporting date. These accruals are included in cument liabilities. while the provision
refating o end of servios beneflss is disclosed as o non-cusrent |ishility.

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan and occupationsl hazard msurance for Omand smplayees
in accordance with the Omani Social Insurances Law of 1991 are recognised a5 an expense in the statement of
comprehiensive incnme as incumed.

L% Froviions

Provizions are recognised when the Group has & present legal or constructive ohligation & a result of past evenis;
it is probable tkst an owtflow of resources will be reguired 1o settle the obligation and the ameant can be reliably
estimabed, Provisions are not recogmsed for fubure operating losses.

Praovisions are measured a1 the present valae of the expenditure expected 1o be required 10 seitle the abligntian
using & pre-tad rate that reflects curment market asscsgments of the time value of money and the risks specific o
ihe obligation. The ercase in the provision due to passage of Ume i3 recognissd s an inferest expenss in the
corsnlidated snt=ment of compreliEnsiyve income,

L1 Revenue

The accouniing polickes for the Group's revenue from comracts with cosenters are as follows;

fi) Reverue from (afrastrcinre meheork (Gperating lecee mcome)

The Group provides petwork nelated services ke basic end user connection, hackhauling, eolocation, Dense
wivelengthedivision multbplexing o the costomers in Sultanate of Dman. Provision of these servicss involves use
of identified assets from which the customers are obtaining all benefits which they bave the right o direet, henee
accounted for under the requiremenss of IFRS 16, The pricing i based on the fixed rates specified in the
underlying contracts with the customers. The Group's billing cycle ranges fram anmually to monthly with a credia
serm of wpte 30 days of receipl af myvaice

i} Revenue feom comtrarl wilh crsfomers

Matare amd timing of
Type af : 2
P | g | Mevens recrpion ol
aervice significanl payment torms
Revenue from | Revenue from consiruction Revenoe from providing Fber optic netwark construction
Fibeer ogrtic conbracts is recognized as the service on [ixed price contracts i= recogrised aver a periad
network perfarmandce obligation is of time based oo the owput method. Gutpet methods based
constreLing satisfied ower time. The on the surveys of performance completed to date an the
ervics Ciraups billing cyebe on milestones reached.

mionthhy basis with a credit

verm of upto 60 davs of receipt

of invaice,
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2 Summary of material accounting policies [continued)
10 Revenuwe (continued)
Mature and timing of
Type of satbsfaction of
performance & 5
E::I:.ﬂf shbigations, ineluiling Revenue recognition policies
siznificant payment ferms
Revenue from | Services are delivered o a PBeverue from other relabed service 19 recognised point in
infrastructare | location designated by ihe tiame i the sccoumnting perind in which these services are
nalbw ek cuisiomers, Cusomer obinins performed and control transtersed to the customers, The
redated service | contrisl when the servioes anc priciog is based on the rates specificd in the usderlying

delivered, The Group's billing
cyecle ranges from armisally to
manihly with n credit term of
upto 30 days of recsipt of
invoice

coniracts with e cusiomers

Revemne  from
consEultancy
services

Revenue froin consubancy
services is necognirzed poinl in
e in the accouniing period
im which the services are
rendered. The Group®s hilling
oyche cn monthly basis whils a
cradil term of wpbo 60 days of
receipt of invadce.

The Groap generates revenoge mam consul@ncy Scrvicos
under & fixed price contract with Royal Court of Affairs
{RC A} for delivering Enterprise Resource Planming (ERP
Solutionh. The Group is responsble for delivering support
servicoed e the RCA ERP implementation goes live,
Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
conlrsct. Revenue B only recopmised tn fhe extent that it &
highly probahbe that a significant resersal will not occur,
Mo elemen of financing is deemed present as the services
are rendered with sandard coedit terms which is congistent
with market practice,

Revenue  from
the s=ale and
insallation  of

Revenue will be recognised o
peoint in time wpon delivery of
termninala: The Growp®s billing

The Group recogndses revemie [ue the sale of terminals
when it transfers control of the termimals to the custarmer,
which is typbeally wien the Group transfers title, physical

wervices, The Ciroup’s billing
cycle onmanthly basis wilh o
credit teren of upte 40 days of
receipt of invoice.

terminals eyele on monthly basis witha | possession, and the significant risks and rewards of the
credit term of upto &0 days of | equiprent o the Sostomer,
receipt of imvolees.,
Eevenpe from | Revense s recognised at point | The Growp recogrises revenue for (s sale of computers
the sabe  of | intime upon delivery of when it transfers control of the equipment to the cestogmer.
compulers cognpister or rendering of the which i typecally when the Group transfers filke, physical

posscssion, and the sigmificant risks amd rewands of the
edjuiprend ke the customer

Where the tuicome of a contract canmot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extem
of conirsct costs incarred that are likely io be recoverable. The Group recognises contract cosis a5 an expenss as

inzumed,

Varialions m contrect work, claims and incemtive payments are included |n coptract revenue to the extent thal
they might have been agreed witlh the customer and are capable of heing relishly measured

The Ciraup recoginses o contrast gsset for the gross amaoent dee from customens for contract work for all contraces
in progress for which costs meurred plus recopnised profits {less recognised losses) exceed progress billings.

The Craup recoginees & coniract liability for the gross amoun due to customers Tor contrac work for all coniracs
in progress for which progress hillings excerd costs mcurred plus recognised profits {less recognised losses).
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2 Sumiary of material accounting palicies (continued)

3,11 Finance income
Finance income i3 accoanted For on accrunl basis using effective interest rbe method,

212 Taxatwon

Income tax expenss comnprises current and defermed tax, 1t s recogrised (0 profit of loss except to the exient that &
relates o lsems recognised directly in equity or in CCL

Curren tax is the expecied tax pavalle on the twwable meome for the period, usng tax mics enacted or substantially
enacted at the reporting dabe, and any adjustmesnt o tax payable inrespect of previcus years.

Deeferred tax is recognised in respect of temparary differences between the carrying smousts of assets and linhilities
for financial reporting purposes ind the amaunts uged for et pUrpoGes.

Diefesred tax 15 nod recopmised for \emporary differences on the initinl recognition of &sses o labiliies inoa
transaction that ar the mme of the mansaction:

i} affiecis neither acconnting nar taxsble prodfit or loss, and
fi] does mod give rise o oqual taxable and deductible temporary differences.

DieFerred 1ax sssets are recopnised for unused L losses, urused tax credits and deductible wenporary differences io
the extent thal it is probable teat e et profits will be availsble against which they con be used. Putune ocable
profitz are determined bosed on the reversal of relevant taxahle tempomry differences. B the amount of taxabe
temparary differences i insufficient 10 recognise a deferred 12y asset in full, then future tecable profits, adpusted fair
reversals of exisimg lemporary differcsoss, ane considered, based on the businzss plans for the Group, Defemed tax
aipels are reviewed ar each reporting date and are reducsd 10 the extent that it is no langer probable that the related
fin, henefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of fintume tcabde profils imprayves.

The measurement of defared fm reflects the tax consequensss that would Follow From the manner in which the
Company expects, af e reporting date, w0 recover or seithe the carrying amount of its assets and lizhilities. Deternad
ray assels and liabilities are ofTset s theme isa legally enforcement oo offset these in Oman.

.13  Barrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly sttributsbbe 1o the scquisition, construction of production
of o qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complese and prepare the asset Tor
its nmendied uge or sale, Qunlifving assets are asaets that necsssarily ke a substamial period of dme 1o get ready
fior their intended use ar sale

[nvestment mcome camed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings peniding their expenditure on
qualifying nssets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible far capitalsation.

[kher baerowing oosis are cxpensed in the period in which they ¢ incurred,

204  Leases

(ih -I:':'rnu.p a5 o Jessen

Lesses are recognised as a right-of-use assel snd a corresponding [ability ot the date at which the leased assa is
nvailable for use by the Croup. Each lease puyment is allocated betwesn the lkability and finance cost. The finarce
cost is chasped 1o the consolidated atement of comprehensive income over the lease period =0 a5 o produce 2

comsiant periodic rate of interest on the remaining halance of the lability for each period, The right-of-use asset
is deprecinied over the shorter of the &sset's ussful life and the lease term oa a straight-line basis,

Axsets and Habilithes arising from a lease are initially measured an a present value basis. Lease lishilities inchude
the nis present value of the fllowing lease payments:

fixed paymenis (inchuding in-substance fixed payments), less any kease incentives receivable

varioble lease payment that are based on an index or o mée

amountd expected o be payahle by the beisee under residual value poarmniees

the exercise prioe of a purchass option if the kessee i reasonably Cortain to exsrdise thal aption, and
payments of penalties for terminating the boase, if the lease term reflects the lessor exercising that
opbinn.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the bease, if that rate can be determined, or
the Group's incremental bonowing rate.

L] - @ L -
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2 Summary of --h:r'-tnmunl.{ug pnlh:hi {eomtinuwed)

L4 Leases [comtinuwed)

Rightsol=use assels are measured af cosl comprising the fklowing:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease Bability.

. any bease payments made at or before the commencemend date bess any baste incenlives received
. ary Initial direct costs, and

s resioralisn cosls.

Payrenis sssocizied with shor:term leases and lesses of low-valoe assels ane recognised on o straight=line basis
a5 i expense in consalidsted sement of comprebensive income, Shor-tenm leases arg leases with 4 lease term
of 12 months or less. The Group accounts for each lease component within the confract a5 a leass sepanately from
nnn=lease componeils of the conracl

The bease lerm i considersd 1o be the nen-cancellabbe period for which il Group has the right io use an
underlying asset, The lease term i3 adjusted for periods coversd by an option io extend; if i s reazonably certain
that the oplion will bs exercised as well us periods covered by an oplion fo terminate the lease; i i is reasonably
certoin thal the eption will not be exercised,

(i} The Group as lessor

Al incepdion or on modification of & conract that contgins & lease component, the Group allocatss the
ennsideration i the comiract 10 ench lease component om the basis of their relative standalone prices.

When the Group scts as 8 lessor, i determines al kesse inception whether coch lease i o finance lease or an
operslmg lease

To chassify each lease, the Group makes an sverall sssssement of whether the lease transfers substanteally all of
{he risks and rewards incidental 1o swnership of the underlving ssset, 17 thas is the case, then the kease is 3 finance
leass: if not then it is an cperaling lease. As part of this asscasment, the Group considers cortnin indicatons such
s whether the lease is for the major part of the economic Life of the asset

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interesss in the bead lease and the sub-lease sepamtely.
[t assesses the lease classiflcation of & sub-lease with reference o the right-of-ase asdet arising from the bead
lease, nob with reference 1o the underlying asset IF & head lease is 0 short-term bease 10 which the Group applbes
ihe exemprion described ohove, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease

If an arengement contins lexse and non-leass componesis, then the Group applies IFRS 15 t allocate the
consideration m the coniract

The Group applics the derecognition and impairment requirensents (s IFRS 9 10 the net investment in the lease,
The Company further regularly meviews estimated unguaranbesd residund values used in calcolating the gross
inwestment in the ease.

The Grewp recognizes lease payviments received ander operating lenses us income 00 4 siraight line basis over the
lesase termm as part of infrastruchare lease incame”,

An operating lease is a lease that does nol tranafer substantially all the risks and rewards meidestal 1o the
ownership of an underlving asss, Lease payments from operaling lease are recognised 0s income on a stradght-
line hasis unless anather systematic bases (5 more represensative of the pattern in which besefit from the use of
the underlying assst 5 diminished, Costs incumnid m earning the lease income, includng depreciation are
recognised &% #n expense. Inkial direet cost incurred in obiniing Fease, are added to the camying amouns of the
underlying asset and recognised &5 an expense over the lease tenm on the same hasis a5 the lsase income.
Modification o an operating fase is sceounted for as o new leasé from the effsctive date of the medification,
considering any prepasd o aceroed leased pavments relating o the original lease as part of the lease payments foe
thee new Jease. The respective leased assets ane included in the consolidabed stasement of financial position based
on their natre
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1 Summary of materinl necounting policies (continsed)
.18 Inventories

Tnwentories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable valoe. Costs comprise purchese ool and, whene
applicable, direct iahour costs and those overheads thal have been incurred in bringing the invensories o their
present location and condition. Cost is calculsted principally using the weighted avernge method. Net realisable
vohig is the estimated selling prics in the ardinary course of busmess, less the estimatzd costs of completion and

selling expensss

216  Governmment prants

The Groap recoenises an unconditional goversment grant related in profit of loss as othier income when the grant
becomes receivable, Other government grants related o assels ane initially recognised & deferred income ot Fair
value if there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions
pssncinbed with the grant. Cirants related 10 the acquisition of nssets are récognised in profitor loss as olber income
oq1 A systematic hasis over the useful life of the assel.

Grraite that compensate the Ciroup for expenses incurred are recognised in profil of loss &5 other income an a
systematic hasis in the periods in which the expenses gne recognised, unless the conditions for receiving 1l grant
are mes after the relsted expenses have been recognised, In this case, the grant is recognised when it becomes
neceivable,

217 Imipalrment of mon-financial assels

The carrving smaounis ol the Groun®s pos-financial ossets are reviewed al each reporting date to determine wheiher
there is any indication of impairment. If any sach indication exists then the assel’s recovershle amount is
estimated. An impairment loss i recognised if the corrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit excesds
its recoverahle amount. [mpainment lodsed are rocognised in the cansolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The recoverahle amount of an asset o its cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and i fxir value
less costs to sell, In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fows and dissounted to their present value
using & pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assesaments of time valee of money and naks specific w
1he n=set, For the purpose of lmpaimment festing, assets mre companied wiether inie the smalkess Group of axsets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of sther assets
or Companies of aseis (the cash-generating unit),

Impairmient losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting dabe for any imdications kvt thee [oss
has decreased or oo longer exists, An impairment less is reversed i there bas been a change in the estimates used
o determing the recoverahble amount. An inpaimsent loss is reversed only o the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does aotexeead the carrving amount that wold have baen determined, nel of depreciation or arastisation,
if no imipaimment loss had been recognised.

118 Determinadion of @it valwes

The Fair vakee of inwcrest rae swaps is caloulated by discounting cstmated futare cash flows based on the terms
and maturity of each contract and using marked inferest mies for o smilar icstrument af the measurement date,
This ealculation iz tested For reasonshleness through comparison with the valustions received from the parties
issning the msiruments,

319  Borrowings

Barrowings are recognised initialty al fair value, net of transaction costs incumed. Barrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised oost; any difference between the proceeds (net of trassaction costs) and the redempticn value
ia recognised in the consalidated statement of comprebensive income aver the period of the bormwings using the
effective merest method,

Fees pabd o the establishment of Ioan Eacilities are recopnised &s ransaction costs of the loan to the exent tat it
is probatbie that some ar all of the factlity will be drown down, In this case, the fee i deferned until the draw-down
occurs To the extent there is ne evidence that it iz probabls thet some or all of the Bscility will be drawn down,
the foe is capitalised &5 a pre-payment for liquidity services and amostised over the period of the facility i which
it relates,
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3 Fimnmcial risk management

The Group's Board af Directors has te averall respoasibility for the management of Ciroup's exposins i financial
rizk_ I ensures hl insermal riss managemant fromevwark is effective and that a sound sysbem of risk managemens
s in place to safeguard sharcholder's interests.

2l Financinl risk factors

The Ciroup's activities expase it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (comprising the foreign exchange risk
and inferest rite risk), eredit risk and biguidity risk. The Croup’s overald risk managemeni program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markess and secks 10 minimise potential adverse effects on the financinl perfonmance
of the Giroup. Risk management is carried out by the management under policies appraved by the Board of
[Hrectors.

ey Market Fisk

Market rish & the risk that changes in markel prices. such as foreign exchange risk, price risk snd interest rafes
risk affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instraments. The abjective of market risk
management is o manage and control market rigk exposures within acceptable parametess, while optimising b
reliim,

fil  Foweign exchonge rish

The Ciroup's functional and presentstion cusmency is Rials Omani, The Group™s performance is substantially
independent of changes in {oreign eurrency rates as it foreign currency dealings ore principally in LS Dallars 1o
which Rials Omanl is pegged. There are no significant financial instroments dominsted in foveign cumency other
than US Dollars and consequently foreign currency risk is nol significant.

Al Imterest Fizk

[nterest rate risk arises from the poswbility of changes in interedt rates and mizmatches or gops in the amount of
pssets and liwhilities that mature or are respriced in @ given period, The Groap's inlentst mee riak arises from hank
Bormowings.

At the reponing date, the intersst sate profile af the Group's interest-bearing financal assees and liabilitbes s

Imterest rote k4 2023
RO R}
Finnncial asseis
Term deposits 4.1 5% 1o 6.25% 15 581,0147 71,148,254
Financial liahilities
Term doan
- Lot term loans 4.95% 165810519 141,028,371
- Short term loans 5.15% 3,016,225 2.922,035
168,516,744 143,050,406

Further the Cirowp akso has shart e bomowing with kank af interest rabes that ore subject to change upon re-
negotiztion of the fcilitics which takes place o0 an anivual hasis in he case of overdrafts and a1 mare frequent
intervals in the case of shoet term loana, 1f the interest rfe wene 10 ghift by 1%, there would be not be a material
pmpact on the profiahility of the Groap

i) Price risk

Price risk ks the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of o financial instrament will fluctsste because of
changes in markes prices (other than those arising from imerest rie risk or currency risk), wheiher thoge changes
are caused by factors specific 1o the individual financial listrument ee its isswer, of Factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market, As the Group does not have any such assels which are acilvely raded
end measured at fair value, hesot, the Girgnap s ot subject to price risk.
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3 Financial rish management (continmed)
LH Finsncinl risk factors (eentinaed

ik Cradit rick

i) Rixk managdmeim

Credit risk i the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty & a financinl instrument fails io meet its
contrectaal oblipstions arlsing peincipally from cash eguivalents, contrect asssis, other financial asssts a
amonised cosis, & well as credit exposures o customers.

A per the credit podicy of the Group, customers ane extended a credit period of up 1o 30 days (6 the normssl coirse
of business. However, in some cases, due 10 the markel conditions and historical business relationship with the
custamer the credit period nsay be farther extended by o period of 80 days. The credit quality of finmcial assets
is delermined by the costomers” history of mesting commitments, merket intelligence ralabed mitrmation and
mangeneal’s trade expericnce.

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-parties ure engiged in similar business activities, o
activities in the same geographic reglon or have similar economic festares that would causs their ability to mest
contractunl obligntions to be similarly affected by changes in ceonamic, palitical or other coaditions.
Concemieations of credit fisk indicaie the relative sensitivisy of the Group”s performancs te developmenis affscting
a panticular industry or geographical location. The Croup bas comcentralion of credit fisk as B7% of wade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 of the Group ore due from 5 customers in the Sultanote of Ciman [2023: 2024
al rade recelvable ol the group dise from 5 custamers in Suftanate of Omran| .

For customers where there is no independent rafing agency established in the country, fhe eredit contrel team
COMPridiig senfor mEnagement asseases the credit quality of the customers, taking imo sceount their financial
position, pest experience and ather faciors. The outstanding position of the customers is continuously neviewed
by munagement. Credit risk on receivables including other related parties is limited 1o their camying valess a3
managemént regislarly reviews tbete halances 1o a2 recoverability and makes provision for balances whose
recoverability is in doubi,

The carrving walue of financial assets represent the maximum exposure b credit sk Grogs exposure af dehts by
major elassification of trade receivables & of 31 December was 35 ollews

24 25
Ry * RO %
Telecom operatons 18,152,420 BT 5205569 T
Gavernment and Minisries G4, (43 L 2985085 16%
Private [nca! customers 1081, 134 1% _ LSRR 14%
Total 10,853,597 100% __IBEI0884 100%

The Group's receivable iz based from the customer in Sultannte of Ciman,

The apzing of trude recedvables a1 31 December is Mllows

Zinl4 2023
[+ 18] B
Trade recervalles
Carrent (mol past due) THE, 02 2, H19, 550
Past dise 30 - 60 days 1,005,042 2,365, Ta2
Past due &1 — 90 days X5 615 2,171 165
Past dwe 91— 120 days 1,605,458 J50681
PFast due shove 12 days 124501420 10,423,726
20,853,597 L8, %30, 884

With respedt 0 exposares with hanks, management consders the credit nsk expasre 10 be minimal as the Cirosp
deals with reputed banks. Management does not expect any losses from non-performanes by thess counterparties,
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3 Fimancizl risk management {eantimued )
il Financial risk fetors (continued )

fi Credir plsk voominmed)

i) Risk manageme st fcontimued]

Credit quality of cnsh and bank balances

24 2023

Raiing R R
Ahli Bank 340G Baal 56,900,154 e oA ]
Maissarsh [damic Bank 5A0G Bal 134,891 231 449
Hank Muscat SADHG Ba3 453511 463,540
Bank Sohar SACG Bal 276,272 1,&06,356
Matinnal Bank of Cman Bal B56 6,870
Al-lzz Bank Bal B 416400 000,079
Rank [dhaofar ol 5, Td6 340 71,403
Sobar Islamic Bank B2 274978 0
Ahli Islarmie Bank Baal 34,1 250
68 Y36.929 AR099 445
Term deposés Bal 215,381,147 T 148254

Thee eest of the consolidaied statement of financial position wem is cash on hand, The sisted roting is &5 per the
glabal hank ratings by Meody™s Investars Servioe

Ll Imparirmeend af fagnelal aseers

The Cirvaip has trade recervahles that are subject to IFRS 9% expected credit boss nsodel, While conlract assels,
other finpncial assels ot amortized cost boan o relsted parties and cash ard cosh equivalents ore also subject to
the impairment requidresents of IFRS 9, the identified impatrmend loss was immatesiol

Trade Feceivagiies

The Group spplies the [FRS % simplified approach o mesioring expectsd eredit losses which uses & hfetime
expected boss allowance for all trade receivables. As shown in note 3, 1B the Orsup has sxposure of B7% from
anly § customers whi operate (n the iefecommunication sector asd ore reputed orgentsations in the Sultanase of
Oman and the ECL allowance on recetvable from thase customers has been computed based on mting grades
iesued by external ating agensy, The mtings by external apency is based aon hisionic default rate and s alusted
for farward=looking macto-economic information (g, cconomic daca from dndusiey groaps, asseciatons or
bodies).

O thsal basis, e gross balances sad loss allowance as af 31 December was determined as fotlows for rade
receivables {including related parties)

rrass Weighted Liwas Mt
carrying average loss nllawance carrying
aneount rate amouni
iy RO R R
31 December 2024
Telecom operators 18,132 420 6% 1, 106,01 %4 16,986, 116
Gewerneent companies 640,042 3% 11074 617, 0
Private Companies 081,134 1% 18,189 1,063 845
20,853 597 1,186,557 19,667,040
(3ross cRITyENg Weightad Lizxss Mt
amumt averaps liss allowamse CAFTVIng
e amant
B i R} R}
3] December 2023
Telecom operators 13,2835 954 % 3&s.970 2208 #HG
Government companies 2 GHA DS P 5R.551 2037534
Private Companies 2 45 830 B TH2T4 2470350

18 20884 223,703 E8, 257 85
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4 Fimancial risk management (enntinued)
A1 Finamcial risk factors {enatin wed)

i Credit risk fem e
{ed Impanirment of fiagacial aeesis feonfinued)

The closing impairnsent Joss allowances for trade receivahles & at 31 December 2024 reconcile fo the opening
boss albowances as foll ows:

024 23
Ry RO
At | January 513,704 249,197
Charged during the year 662,762 274 508
At 31 Drecember 1,156,587 523,793

Trade receivables are written off when there is ma reasomable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasanable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the fadlure of & debio I engags m o repayment plan
wiith the Group, and a fallure to make contrpctual payments for @ period of greater than 360 days pasd due,

Impairment bogses om financial assets are presenied as nef mpairment |osses witlin eperating profit. Suhsequent
recoveries of emaunts previously wrilten off are credited agains i mme ling it=m, Al the reparting date, if the
farward-looking factars were to <hifi Upwirds or downwards by 1%, there woudd he an insiprificant change in
the Group's profitability,

fel Liguiality rink

In accordance with prsdent lquidity risk management, the Maragemend aim (o madniam sufficient cash and
fdequate amount of committed credit facilities. The managemént monktors the rolling forecasts of the Liroup®s
liquidity requiresments o ensure # has suffickent cash b0 mest operntional needs,

The Group's financial lishilities comprise of hank bomowings, rade and other Pavables (inchuding reteniion
payables) and lease liability. The contractial cash Nows against trade and other pavables are gapecied 1o pgual
the carrying value Mo significant impact of discousting js cupected on Crowp's fisencial Habilities except
borrowings, a5 these balances sre expected to be settled In the next twelve months from the reparting dane.
Derivatives consist of interess rope SWED agrecments,

The below schedule shows the maturity profile of the fimancial linbilives:

Carrying Caomiractunl Up t Iim% More than 5
amamni cash fows 1 year VEArs FEArs
Ry RO ROy R Ry
30 December 2024
I'radz and other
payables 25,537,118 (15.537,125) (25,537,11%) = =
Do to related partics LEN.A (B3, Bd6) (83, 840) = =
Lenss liabilities 3980138 (4.413,503) (1.214,204) (3,198, 390) .

Bank bormowi L _(I8977,002) _(ISASL874)  _(669S5.992) (153,568,135
= 197713545 (366,011,476 2288.049) _(F0IS5091) (183.58.135)

Carryling Comeractl Lip ta 2in 5 Maore than
artiaumt vash flows I vear yea 5 vears
RO Rix RO Ri¥ RO
11 December W33
Trade and ather
payahies 20,358,704 (20,358, 7%4)  (21355,794) - -
[hue to related partles #6647 (85,642) (85.642) = i
Lease Habilities 10,758 404 {12,783, 743} {1646 370 (11,037,373

Bask harmwings U106 (2051213460 _(IS0N0IA) _(SOTSTOMS)  (139.350,180)
IR (833605 GRI9) (6L (Dasiin)
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32 Capital risk management

The Group's ohjectives when managing capital ars {o safeguard the Group's alklity 1o continwe as 5 godng concern
and henefil oiher stakebolklers. The management's policy & to mainkain o stromg capital bee 50 a5 b maintain
creditor wnd stakeholders” confidencs and to sustain fature devebopment of the business. The Group manages
capitnd struciure, by adjesting or mercasing te paid up capital and'or introducing external fmancing o have an
apdimal deht eguity rabin.

The capital of the Croug comprises share capital, sharshelder”s funds amd retained camings / (sccumolated losses ),
Manngement’s policy is to maintain an optimum capitnl base (o maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
i sustamn fitore growth of busmess as well a3 retum o6 capital. Capib) requirements are prescribed by the
Commercial Companies Law af 2019,

The Group mondors caprtal on the basis of the gearing ratio. This mtio is calculated as met debi divided by ol
capital. Met dabd is caloulated as total bormowings (Rckoding lease linbdlities ) less cash and cash equivalents, Total
capital {s calculated as * Total equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial pasition plus net debd,
The gearing ratios ot 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

24 o3

R B
Potal borrowlngs (Including lease [Eabilitbes) 172,092,574 153, 268 466
Less bank halances {nate 12) (34 3 18A076) {109, 242 651
Met deba TTT T A9H A4, 025 TGT
Eguity 216,893,003 214,337,098
Tuwtal capital 104 66T 801 258, 56X RGS
Gearlng Fatie 26% 17%

3ZI  Fair valoe estimaticn

The carrving amounts of Onancesl aasets and Goancial labilites al amoctised cosls wilth a maturity of leds than
nnE year appraximale 1o their fair valoes. Befer node 22 for investment in equity instoiments carried af fair
vithue.

4 Critical acecunting jedgments and key soarces of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of ibe consolidated financial statements, as per IFRLS, requinss manageinent to make sstimales
and assumplions that affect the reported amount of asszts and liahilities at the rq:u;l-rlinl date and the resulani
prowvisions and changes in fair value for the vear, Such estimates are necessarily hassd on essumplions aboi

seweral factors involving vaning, and passibly significant, degrees of jodgment and unceraimiy and actual results
may differ fram manegement’s extimates resalting in future changss in estimated assets and linkdlities,

The following are the key assumplions concemimng the famre, and other key sourees of esimation unceainty =

the reporting daie, that have o significant risk of cousing a maberiol adjustment 1o the carmying amounis of nsscis
and linkillities within the next financial vear.

il Diwafel ftves of propeety and eqieitesent

Depreciotion is charged $0 &5 to write off the cost of asseis over their estimated usefizl fves. The calcubstion of
seful lives is based on mansgement’s sasesament of varous factors aich ae the operating cyeles, thse maintenance
programs, anid nanmal wear and lear wing i1s hest estimates,

¢y Impurirment of investment i associmtes ard fotnt vertures

The Grougp reviews s Invesmments in sssocsaws and jodnt venures periodscally amd evaluses the objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence inchades the performance of associate, the fulure basiness model,
bocal economic conditicns and ather relevant factors. Based on the abjective evidence, the Group determines the
e for impeirmen) loss on mvestmenls in ateociles and joinl verlurnss,
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4 Critheal accounting [adgments and key sonrees of estimation wncertainly (conlinued )
fid Fair value of pecivifter mof groted (n an solive morket

For the purpese of determination of fair valee of securities not quoted @ an active marke: and where no markel
data ig available, the Group may value positions iming it awn models, which dre usually based on valuation
methiods and techniues peneralhy recognised as standard within the indestry. The inpuis into these models ane
primarily discounted cash flows. The models usid 1o determing fale value are created by masagement experts
inwalved amd are valsdated and revagwed by the management. The models used for privale equity s=curities are
based mainly on discountsd cash flows ander the income method basad on the discounting the Bet fatane free
cashifbows toequity to their present value and Seriving terminal vabue hased an perpetual growth rale

5 Accounting classification and fnir valoe

Mote 24 e
Financial azssets a1 gmortised cost 10 ] RO
Trade and other receivables 1a 21,496,012 ZL 26507
Dae from rzlated pariies 12 2,632,195 1,139,300
Cash and cash equaivalent 12 68,939 044 8,058 ABS
Term depasts 12 25 381,047 TII48 254
Reteotion reegivables 21 4, 106

138,449,313 132.601,172

Trade and other receivables excluding advance 1o supplier, prepayment and VAT recoverable.

Maoile 2024 2023
Financial pssels al fir value RO Rp
Financial nsets at fir vahe through profit or loss 3 &ETH zjl !53&&
Financial liabilities
Male x4 2023
RO RO
Trade and ather payahles 6 25,537,125 M, 358, 794
Hank borrowengs 17 DGR, 103 444 143, 170G
D io related parties 3a 85,846 b1
Lm&:]hbllll}- 4 1,989,130 141, (R )4

197,713,545 173,713,902
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T Imizngible nsseis and goodwill

Cenndwill Saoftware
As at 31 December 2024 ROy RO
Cost
At 1 January TR 1,311,992
Addition during the vear - 344306
At 31 Decem ber 278311 1,656,298
Accumubated impalrment boss and amortization
ALl Januaary 278311 L0446 340
Charge during the yer - 215,686
Al 31 Decem ber ITRN1 [.169,598
Carrying valuo at 3 December - 386,02
Goadwill Software
A at 31 December 2023 R Rir
Caoat
At 1 Jantiary 118311 1310592
AL 3] December 278311 1,310,952
Accumiulated antortization
At 1 Jamuary 00000 35084
Charge during the year . 110256
Tmpasrment loss during the yeur (note 7.1} 78311 -
AL31 December 278311 1065, 301
Carrymg valoe at 31 December - Iﬁ:l-,,ﬁjg

The intangihle assets represent cost of software procured by the Growup and ane amoentised over o usefil life of 3
YEEFS
Crpagall

The imitial poodwil] eeopnized represents the sequired entity's worklorce, synergies resulling from cosl savings
ard acguistion of market share and non-contrachzal customer relutsonships that have not met the criteria for
recogniten as an Imangibbs asssL

T.1 lmpairment on goadwill

Drue to unavailahility of cash flows projections, the recoverable smount has been desermined based on net asse
value, As aresult, the management has recorded an impalrnest of BOCTE 11 durlsg vear 3023

& Right-of-use azsets
Satellite
Bailding Storage Hacks capacity Todal
RO RO RO RO

Asat | Fanuary 2024 5331 504 123,651 BATL9YY TEOYE, 0
Additions daring the year 137 490 - - 137,490
Leass modifications 5557 {91,971 (4. 465,379) {4,551,685)
Depreciation charge fior the year [454.452) {A167%) (6L D0E) {1,104, 136}

Balance as at 31 December D024 X121 A% - 3181 650 35065, 050
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROLUP SAOC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

| Right-af-use pssets (continmed)
Hanelline
Buikding Storage Racks capacity Totul
RO RO R} RO

As a1 January 2023 E66, 101 A, 650 9,341, 300 10, &0 060
Lesse madification i, R0 - S aald 123742
Additions during the year (161, 178) E E (161 17H)
Dispreciation chargs for the yeer (135, 1950 (A7T2598) (003 T) {1,538,234)
Balsnce as &1 31 Decomber 2023 533 B4 123,652 8370934 9,028 390

The right of use asszet has been recognized in respect of leas of office premises, slorage racks and salellites.
Related lease linbilities are disclosed im note 15,

9  Taxation
fad T reax clarge for e year 2 ar follows:
124 2023
RO R
Current tax
- CUFREnt vear SRS 410,541
Deferred wmx
= curmenl yeur 1,253,851 15,802
- prioe year {2870 1,852
1,250,981 15654
1,640,794 450595

itk The reconcilistion of tax on the accounting proflt ot the applicable rate of 15% with the taxation credit in the
comsolidated fnancial sttements i3 as follows;

124 2023
Rid RO
Tax on gccounting prafil £ (boss) of (RO 7,1 16,6%7) (2023- RORD
333520 1067 5415 (AB0HE)
Deeferred tan adjustments relating io praor year {2,870) IB52
Dreferred tax on account of carry forward bosses { B0, 570 -
Unrecognized deferred tix on tax loss 334460 266,215
Add tax effect of:
Tax exempt revenae 2216 -
Tax penalty paicl 1,703 400,409
Mon-deduclible cxpense G1R 348 50,598

1,640,794

430,595
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OMAN INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY GROUP 5A0C

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED M DECEMRBER 2024

% Tuxation (contineed)

fc} Deferrsd ncom laxes as calculsted on all temparary differences uging o principal tax rade of 15%. Deferred
tax in the consolidated staternent of financial pedition (8 ag follows:

{Charged) |
eredited to the
consolidated
statement of
1 .]],nu"’.- com Fuh:miur 31 Decem ber
2024 ineome 024
R RO Ry
Deferred tnx linkility:
Taw effect of depreciation {10,794 309) {1,776 BE0) {12,571, 169
Motional imlerest income {150615) (1h4%2) (144,007}
Fair value poins on eguity invesiments at FYPL
recopnised in other Eﬂin& (93 A06) 4XRT] (AS0.935)
Delerred fax assets:
Tax effect of provisions 1,635,601 261 486 129747
Taxable losses 1,163,712 13176 1.1 76 HE8
L=z lishility 149,343 (T 06} THL20]
Met deferred tax assel labiliy ) [ 8, et Sl ) i1, 250951} 19,920,945}
(Clharged) |
creclited o the
consolidated
sltement of
comprehensive il December
1 Jamuaary 2023 ingomne 2023
R Rih R
Deferred tme linhility:
Tax effect of depraciation (5. R52.904) (1, 741.405) 10,794,304}
Buicnal imlerest income (141178 10,503 {13061 5)
Fuir walue poins on equity investmenis at FYPL
recogrized m ather gaing (L5351 .260) R3T.654 (93, B06)
Delferred tax assels,
Ta effect of providons a6, e 1009 485 1635691
Taxahie kosses 1,345,081 (BT, 363) 1163712
Lesse lability 133,45 15418 149 363
Met deferred s assei Habilio) (&.650.300) {19,654) (B, 660 964

(1) Checrea Ffowrmeentionn arvd Commursicatian Teclrmlagy Graup SAOC: Taxation hes been agreed with the Oman Tax
Authorities far all the years up to 31 December 2021, The tax assesament for the Tax Years 2022 and 2023 has not
yet boen amsessed by the TA, The management believes that additional tax, if any, thal may becoms payable on
fmnalisation of asscssment in respect of open wears would mot be maderinl to the conselidated finencial stalements as
at 3] December XK24,

(i} Qiman Broadband Company $A0C- The tax returns of the Company upbo and including the Tax ¥ear 2020 has
been completed by the Oman Tax Autharity ("TA"). The tax assesement for the Tax Years 2021 to 20203 has not yel
been assessed by the TA. The Company’s management is of the opinion that additional taxes, if any, relaling 1o
open tax years wauld nat be maferial o the conselidabed financlal statements as at 31 December 2024,
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¥ Taxation (contimwed)

(151} Lham Techmology Fund Halding Compane £4000 = Taxation has been opreed with the Odman Ty Authoritizs
fior all years ap to 2020, The Company's assessment for the tax years 2021 to 2023 have mot vet boen Tinalised
with the Oman Tax Authoritics. The Company's management is of the cpinion that additional taxes, if any,
relating t0 open tax veors would not be material to the conselidated financiol staitemens &5 at 31 December 2024,

(1% Space Commrurmication Techmologies 5P The fax retams of the Company upto and including the Tax Year
2020 bhos been completsd by the Oman Tax Astboraty TA)L The s assessment for the Tax Years 2021w 2023
has not yer been assessed by thve TA. The Company 's manngement 18 of the apnioi that sdditional axes. if any,
relnting io open fix yesrs would not be maierial to the consodidabed financinl statements 32 6t 51 December 224

(v} Crror Techmplogles LLC- Mone of the tax assessments have been completsd by the Oman Tax Awiboritles as
et

(i} Technolagy Investreent and Maragement Comparny LLC- The tax retemns of the Company upto and incfuding
the Tax Year 201% has heen completed by the Oman Ty Authorities ("TA"). The tax sssessment for the Tay
Yoars 220 1o 2023 kas mot yet been asseased by the TA, Matagement coisiders that the amoant of sdditional
taxes, if any, thal may become payable on fimalsation of the ahove ex years woukl not be matzrial fe the
consolidried finnncial statements ns at 3| December 2024,

(vl Ddgirad Tramagformarton Management Compeany LLO- Mone of the ax assessmenis have been completed by
the Oman Tax Authorities as yel

fdi e movememt (o the carrent iontian Habilicy for the ypear comprises

2024 i3
Riy RO
A1l lamisary 376, B47 79,193
Charge For the vear 30,813 410,041
Faid during the year (301,463 — [a3FET
At 31 December 465,197 376,847
1@ Trade and other receivabiles
24 | P
Rk R}
Trade recelvebles 20 B53.597 18, 8ML A%
Lo eredil Ioss allowance [node 3. 1{bKii)) (1,186,557 {323,793}
19,667 040 18,297 085
Onbser pecelvable 10,670,180 LMT2ITE
Accrued inferest I, 158 802 L D50 G50
Prepayments 151,533 117,535
Advances o suppllers S046.213 AT 456
VAT recoverable - et 101,418 —_AnHe
i 80k, 186 23,433 330

) Classificanon as mady rece ivables

Trade recelvahles sre amounts dise from cusiomers for goods sold and services performed i the ordinany coane
of busiess. Tlwey are gemerally dae for serbement within 30 days and thevefore are all clessifiad as cument. These
receivables are recognised indfially et the amoust of consideration ithal i3 uncondilional unless they contain
significant financing compoents, when they are recopnised fair vilos.

The Group hodds thess receivables with the obactive 1o collect the contraciual cash flows and therefore measunss
them subsequently al amorised cost using the effective interest method. Demils about the Group®s impairment
policies and the calculation of the loss allywence are provided in mote 3. 1{B)it)
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10 Trade and sther receivables (continued)

A Cenerving and iy values af frade recernabiles

The comving amounts of the Group's irede receivables are denominated in Rial Omani Dhe o the shon-ters
natuse of the carrent receivahles, their camying amount less empasment peoyskon approximates sheir fair valee,

fiif)  fmpatrment amd Fat pxpossne

AL 31 Diecember 2024, the Group has a coliective impairment prowision against it trade receivables inthe amount
of RO 1,186,557 (2023 RO 523,795) Information about the impoirment of tmde receivables asd Group’s
exposurs o credit risk, forelgn currency risk and inferest rate risk can be found in node 3.1(b),

11 Coniract assets

024 023

RO RLY
Revenue from fiber opiic network constnaction sorvice 235, 04646 727,884
12 Cashand eash eguivalents

024 2023

RO RCY
Bank halances 04 3 1E0T6 109, 247, 608
Cash in hamd 3,020 4.040
Cash and bank balances O, 321,055 109 246,739
Lizss: Term depoanis (15 381,147} (71,148,254}
Cash and cash egivalents 68, 939949 AR.05% 485

Bank balances inclute & call deposit smounting to RO 34,046,817 (2023 RO 27,138 348) and carmies an interest
rate ranges from 1,5% 10 §,6% per annum (2023 - 1.5% (o 5.6% por anoum).

Term deposits amounting 16 RO 25 381,147 (2025 71,148 254) crries an inderest rabe ranges [ram 4. 15% 1o
6.25% per Ennum {2023 - 4, F5% 1o 6.25% per asmum),

L} Skare capital

The nuthorised, issued and paid-up shane capial of the Group consist of 153,945,173 shares of RO 1 cach (2023
153,945, 1 73 shares of RO | each].

14 Legal reserve
In sccordance with the Commeérdial Companies Law of 2019, a5 amended, annual appropeiations of 10% of the

profic fisr the wear are made io this reserve until the accumuiated balance of the reserve is equal so one=third of the
vakue of the Giroup's pasd-up share capital. This ressree is not @vailabde for distribution.
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15 Contract lmbilities

The controct lisbilities represent the advanes billing to customers related 10 constroction servicss and operating
lease moome agreements for which serviced to be resdened by the Company,

Current porton
Man-curresl portion

Opening a5 at | Janaary
Addition to deferred revenue
Revenue recogniced in current year
Closing ns ot 31 December

Revenss to be recognised (n 2025
Revenue 0 be recognised in 226 onwards

16 Trade and ather payables

Trade pavables

Accruals relating 1o capilal capenditures
Agcrued expenses

Retention parable

Banus provision

Other payables

17 Barrowings

Long erm loan
Short term boan
Less: [eferred financing cost

Mon=ciarrent portion
Currenl podtion

The umamoritsed deferred financing cost is as follows:

At | Janunry
Amortised during the vear {note 28,1}
At ¥ December

2024 223
Ry RO
38398 164,200
992 28 002
344739 W1.382
2024 2023
Ry RO
427 252 THE,025
6,967,159 4038125
(4,007,191} {4,254 868}
3447390 497 283
1024 223
RO RO
3,108,598 [ &8, 250
238,992 328,992
3,447,390 197,383
2iiz4 2023
RO RO
4458158 3,505,722
10,741,935 7,297,310
1,671,356 2,476,104
3291551 3,126,584
2017452 2,053,179
1355873 1,820,095
25,837,128 20,358,754
2024 2023
Ry RO
165810519 T41,02E 371
3016215 5L
{713,300} {780,344}
tﬁ.lﬂadﬂl 143, 170,063
160,771,564 135,058,546
7,530,580 B111,516
168,103,444 143,170,062
2024 2023
RO RO
TR0 344 B55,000
(57044 [74,638)
723,300 780,344
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECE MEEHR
17 ﬂurrullh:m: feomtinued)

Drirng vesr 2022, the Company sftersd into refinancing drmngement ang capex facilitiey fop an bmadang of Bo)
171 millian (Us #44 miilion) uncter SOMRM0n term agresment with local banks, The refinancing tranche of B
5.2 miltion ang Fapex tranche of RO 75§ million wip be repaid in ¥ 2emi-an ) installminis ax Per clause 6,
of faciliy agreement Commencing from June 20, 2024 apd Erecember 21, 2004 respociively. The Codpany fs

Shars tprem Sy

Shiwrd term borrowings are vhigdned from commercial banks ot ingergs Fatte 0f 3.153% per aninam &0 are repayabis
within 12 months of the reporting date.

Covarmngy

2034 22y
Ry R
Balance ac a2 Tanuapy 143, 1700062 ST 4TSN
Changes from financing cashiow
Fepayment of botrawings B 111L.516) (3, 130411)
from botrowing 32987 554 48,750,406
Deferrad Finaning oo 57,044 14,656
Balance ac a1 3 Drecember 168,103,444 143, 170,062
18 Provision for employee's end of servicy benefits
2iz4 201
RO R
Al L Tanuary T, 429 20073
'l:':hm:p:mrlhr_l.-nrrnu.:iu 18,034 44,229

Paymen during ve vear
AL Decempber IM! £Ed2'}

Ia Lease Liabilitfes
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k] Lease Liability {continued)

Movements in the lease Hahility recopnized at the reporting date is as fotlews:

Sutellite
Ruilding Storage Raocks capacity Taetal
B Rl Ri} R}
Ag ai 1 January 2024 416,793 185844 9395, 762 L 058, 404
Additions during the year 1574590 - = 137,490
Leste modifications 4,565 (285, 541) (4.803,064) {5,084 368)
Irterest expenss Ex095 - 194,038 208,30
Lense instalment paid 359,712y - {1,010, Ti4) {1,570, 426)
Batamee as st 31 December 2024 ZH5.051 - 3,775,044 3989, 130
Sabzllite
Buidlding Sdorage Racks capacity Tivtal
R RO Ri¥ Rk
As i | Jenuary B33 T403K5 i3l 452 10,172,055 11,3592
Addisions during Ehe vear e, (IR D - 549,662 123,742
Lease modificationy (151,178) - - (161,178}
[nterest expeise 3,733 16617 475, 514,654
Lease kistalment paid [249.227) (3622200 (1, 311,259) (1:922,706)
Balance ag a1 31 December 2023 416,793 185,849 9,393,762 10,05 B, 4104
4 2023
(¥ ] Ry
Man-current portion of lease liabiliry 1027043 8,931,741
Current pariion of kzase lability 1062087 1,166, T03
1,080,130 110,055, 404
Amount recogrnised in profit or losd
2024 2123
R R
Interest expense on luase Habilities 20,830 514,634
Deprecintion an dghi-of-use assel 1,109, 1 36 1,538,234
Amsunt recognised in statement of cash flows
24 2023
RO RiD
Totnl cash outflow for beases 1370416 1,922 706

i Govermment subisidy

Financial subsidy received from Telecommunications Regulaiory Authority (TRA) to provide fixed nicrnet
gervice Lo villages and nural communities thal have mat received intemet servipes. There are mo unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies antaching to these grants. As o resull, the marmgement has recognized o
receivable amount of RO 1.5 million from TRA during the year {2023: 1.5 million has been recognized)
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i

Retention receivahls
11

Retention receivable

Equity accounted nvesiee

FLFL]
o

ROy

A0, Iy

The Ciroap’s investments in jolnt venare and associates as at 31 December 2024 are as Follows

Investment Mame

Blechehain Solations
amnd  Services LLC
{HSS)

Data Megration and
Services LLC (Rihal)
(dman Horizen LLC

{OHL)

Prime Business
Solwtions LLC
(OS0S)

Inmiovalive
Techmology for
Innovation LLC
(INNO)

Oman Data Metwork
LLC

=5 Microelectronics
U% Ine (GSME(

Percenfage Opening  Additional Share of Impairment Nel investment
of holding ~ Balance investment profitiloss)  provision
R during the year for the year
Ry ROy R RO
9%, 30419 - 3T0A29) = =
0% LT, 161 - 10928 3 1, i, A5
15%: K56.500 - (TL005) (3827) TTEIE
% GSE.016 = (180,.847) (220,847} 556,281
3% AR5 HRD - {59,192} - d30,690
0% 33,10 00, THOE (3:4.313) {198, TRT} -
34.15% - 300,240 (624.124) = 2456, 116
3,784,088 32H0.240  (1311.633) (h2.551) 5525175

The Group's investiments im jolnt venture and associates as ot 31 December 2023 are as fullaws

Envestemenl Fercepinge Opening Additional Share ol lmpaimmest Netnvestmen
MName of halding  Halance Inwvestment profitiess)  provision

R during the year  For the yeas

RO RO RO¥ RO

Blackehain
Solutkens  and
Services  LLC
(BSS) 1% FLLHELE ) AB0392  {309.963) = ERILE F
Diastn Magration
and Bervices
LLC (Rihal} Rl 1051559 . 24,602 - 1076161
Chmean Florizon
LLC {(OHL) 15% S1,577 - (11.473) {13,604} 56,500
Frime Huginess
Solutons  LLC
(B0 2ty 11331568 - {120,152) - WIR006
Irmovetive
Technobogy  for
Inmowvastion L1LC
(MM i 500,000 (11 E8) - 4R5.RED
(hmaan [ata
Metaork LLC 2% g 33,100 - - 33,100

3.291.304 1,013,483  {307.104) {13.604) 3, 7R4.0EH
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Il Equity sceounted investes (eontinued )

The lallowing tables show the valuation rechalques used In caleulming, the impairment of non-financial asseq
i.e inwestment in associate.

expecied fature paymens,

Type Yalwation technigue Significant unobservable | Infer-relationship hetween
inputs skgmificant unabservable inputs
and fair value measirement
Equity Ireounted cavh fows: The | = Expocted cash flaws Thse estimaced fair valoe
Securities- Dala valaation model considers | {31 [reoember 2024 woukl inerease (decrease) if:
Migration mnd the present walie of the | RO 5334319 » the expected cash flows
Bervices LLC expecied future payments, |+ Risk-sdjusted discount | were higher {lower); oe
{Rihal} discounted wsing a wisk- | rate (31 December 2024 | + the risk-adjusied discount
adjusied discount rate. 21.8%). rale were lower (higher) |
Equity Dircounted cash fows: The | = Expecied cash flows Thee essimated fair value
Securithes- Oman valuation model considers | {31 December 2024: wembkl mnereise (decrease) if:
Harigem LLC {OHY | the present value of the | RO 7739080 + the expectsd cash flows

= Risk-adpsted discount

were higher {lower); oo

discoumeed using 8 reisk- | rate (31 December 2024: | » the risk-adjusted discount
adjusied discount rate, ] e 3 rate were Lower (hipher)
Equity Dircpunted carvh fows: The | = Expocted cash flows Thee estimated @i valos
Securitles- Prime vilustion model considers | {31 Drecember 2024: would increase [decrease] if:
Business Solution the peesent walue of the | RO 5362810 # the expectzd cash fows
(D[R0S expecied foture payments, | = Risk-adjusted disceant | were higher (lower); o
discountsd wsing 8 risk- | rate (31 December 2024; | » the risk-sdjusted discount
adjused discount rmie. 154150 rate were lowes (higher) -~
Eguity Dircounted cavh Tews: The | « Expacted cash flows The estimated fair value
Sapurities- valuation model considers | {31 December 2024: wiostibd increass (decrease) il
Inmovetive the present value of the | RO 7493005 * the expected cash flows
Technalogy for expected future payments | = Risk-adjusted discount | were highes (looer]); o
Inmovation LLC disconntsd asing o risk- | rafe (3] December 2024; | » the risk-sdjusted discounl
{Inmsech) adjusted discount rate, 13374} raie were lowes (higher)

Suwmmrarised firancial J.rg'-'.:fmal‘amfa.r_.u:ll'ﬂ] vemiures

Sed out below i the swmmarised fnanclal nformation of the Indirss joint vestures and sssociates which are
acounted for using the equity method 2 at reporting date. The summarized financial information are unsudited

Summarised statement of fimanciol position:

A% at 3] December 2024
ASSETS

Man-curreni asseis
Currenl assets

Todal azsels

EQUITY AND
LIARILITIES

Total equily
LIABILITIES
Mane=curren! liabdlitses
Current linbilities

Total linhilities

Total equity and liahilities

B5S RIHAL L (L I GEME
RO RO RO RO
JRE 900 1978 Te0 3,138,585 L5TZATL AlLME HER 02
101451 1,721,257 746,670 1855335 244,295 1210796
SM06L 5697006 3,585,255 3 AT STLGI3 2,099,098
(6H7,055) 1409200 (T23,395) 3,185,200 459,787 1334476
WS157 1,506,420 254410 = - 72,602
1LI62.258 2781404 4,354,240 239,606 BLE26 692,020
267415 AINTEI 4608650 230,606 BLENG o422
580,362 5,607,026 IBRSIEE AAITEG STL613 _ 2.009.098
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2 Equity aceommted investes (continued)
B5S REHAL {1805 L MR
Az ar 3] Decemnber W23 LY RO R B
ASSETS
Man-current assels ik, 7R 1,738,607 2,419,316 La61.21% 80,107
Current assets BSE. 396 LIIGS10 T15.950 1,626,613 192,51R
Tatzl assets 1,321,574 LA403217 3,133,273 3488 214 678,625
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Tatal equily B25,316 1,257,307 130,58 J4B0.4115 583 000
LIABILITIES
Man-curtent labdlitbe 55914 76,005 1204590 .
Current linhilities 435,339 915,904 2683 R0O7 2114 Q5425
Total Hiahilities 452 151 1591910 2 805306 2119 Q5 615
Total equity amd liahilities 1,321,579 2 R4 21T 3. 135275 3488534 678,625
Summarised sintement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
B5S RIHAL 0s05 OHL INMO LGEME
51 December” 2024 RO KO RO iy RO
Revenue 0,761 3.0 R60 43,629 5607 45800 2O7LHIS
Operating costs (53,691) (1,69, 15%) (T31575) [32,96i6) (4055905 (2.740441)
Operating profic 6,71 1,601,671 211,054 2661 60,6549 131,374
Uther non-operation
EXPOSES
Oiber expenses (1,404, 608) (1,344,945) {1052 i) [3I7,176) (328, M48) (2.251.674)
Cither IMcome - £1.202 - 1116 10,843 4,772
Interest expense {37.5%h) {9,137} (2, TOE) - { S0y _
Income lax - {68453 - - - =
Ml profii /| {foss) [ 1 AX607H) 149,638 {50 454 (200410} EEEH;]: WEI
*Thee shase of lass 14 proportion GEME 8 invesiment was made on 15% Fehraary 2024.
Bss RIHAL (508 CIHL IMMCH
31 Dwoember D23 RO Ri¥ RO RO RO
Revenue 93,104 241027 454 744 - 418, 106
Operating costs (169947} (1,258499) A7) (37054) (268,582
Cperating profivilass} (76, T43) LiSL. TR0 30058 {3T.054) 149,524
Oicther noR-DpEretkon
X pEnses
Cither expenses {703, 7400 (0020 208 (90® 574} (115,683 (270197
Cither inooms 1T7.R01 13,243 34460 26856 15
Imberest expense {1.525) (20,805} (25, 686) - s
leromss Lax 111,631 . . - -
Met profit / (koas) (632 577 123 008 {0, TE2) (125891} {121 638)

The Group hias 2004 stake in Oman Date Metwosrk LLC. We have nal shawn the Anancial position sance Company
havie no operlan as af 11 December 2024, during the period Company incurred loss of RO 171,363,
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23 Financkal assets at fale value throogh profit or lnss

The Group classifies the fallowing financial assefs at fair vale: throagh profil ar bss (FYPLY

= equity invesimenis thai are held for imding, and
eguity investnents for which the entity has not eleoted 1o recognize fair valoe gaing and losses
through O,

024 2023

R} RO
Level | = financinl axsety:
Financial assets a1 fair value through profit or bess
-Eguity securities o4, %97 79,002
Level 5 — financial assets:
Financial aeses at fale value theough profit or boss

-Eguily securiics 21,778,690 21,073 865
Dbt securilies 1963, 069 2,102 387
Tatal fimancial aszeis st fair valee through profic or loss 14 046, T56 1!.1‘55.;_54_

The equity securitics includes certain imvestments in multiple funds smousting 1o RO 3,634 million (2023: [ 939
millisn} of whicly the management hos determined their fair values based on the unaudited fund administrator
certificate

204 2033

o R
Asat | Inrmary 13,255,154 7. 733101
Purchase of mvestmenis during the perind 3130214 1,581 837
Met changes in fair vales of investiments duaring the period (2511,255) { e, OFhE 074§
[nterest from debt securities ot fair valug through profit ar loss 212,188 I 16,60
[hsposals durlng the period [ A0,645) (R2A80)
A 3] December 24,046, T56 23,255.254
Net changes in fair valee @f tnvertnneats duriny ike period:

2024 2(r23

RO RO
Realised BLE ] 24,822
Change inunrealized {1545, 11%) b, 1 18,856)
A1 31 December {2,511,255) o, Cred (54

ril Firercial maress o fne value $irouph prafi or foar can e aralysed ar folloes;

Fair value Cast Fair valee Cost
2024 o4 2023 2123
R RO R RO
Dbt securitbes 1,963,069 L1515 2,102,387 IITRILN
Equity securities
Owverseas quated 304,997 1,334,018 TaLZ LAz
Overseas — umguoisd 11815599 7082448 15,412,037 8,059, 7%
Lacal — unguoted 0005 7010 55926.531 5661 K818 i, TO1, 144

24,046,756 17,2622 73 355,354 17,757,164
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23

ity The geagraptical disinbuion of muesiments 5 as folloes:

Wfiddle East and Alrica
Australin

Asin

Moarth América

Tiotal

For fair value hieranchy, refer o aoie 4.

14 laventaries

Trading goods
Less: allowance for dow maving and ohiolete fems

L] Revenne from contract with castomers

Financial astets st fair value throagh profit ar boes (eontinaed)

k4 22
RO RO
21,305,567 A1 3BR 014
B4R, MO 1,016,964
19,024 173,442
§73,247 676, 7Ta4
Lk MG, TS50 13,135,254
2024 23
[11k] R
TE1041 2,108 370
o {125.608) 1,093,031
(58,349 1,015,539

The Croup generabes revenve from the custuener based fn Sublanate of Omad Following wre the buginess

categoeies:

Rewvenee from sales of compuiers recognizsd poant m lme

Revenue from fiber optic petwork Gonstruction service recognized over
fim=

Bevenue from infrasoructure network related services recognized poind
im Lime

Revenue from consultency services recognized ai poant in time

Bevenise from 2ale mnd metallation of terminals recognized point in time

Ckher revenues

pL Infrastructure lease income

Operating lease meocane
17 Oreher income

Orilser income
Tender fees and miscellancows ncome

2034 Pl

RO ROk
La26019 1436, 546
194,477 1201541
339,500 1,354,620
4,567,109 1,967,064
53,063 o715
3526624 294 30%

103440852 H.274, 195

24 2%

RO RO
30,607,143 34,423,978

2024 2023

R R
1,047,420 380,578
983,307 725,887
1,030,727 1,013,462
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4 Fimance income
024 2023
R RO
[niberast income on deprsits 5,504, 156 2 968,024
Exchange pain 3,813 7423
Loan provided 1o reksted partics RN 151 350
5,601,560 3,126,757
M1 Finamee cost
024 2023
Ry R
Inferest on bomowings 4,792,798 5004, 238
Inderest om lease lialslities {note 19} ik, 030 514,654
Bank cherges 32091 9917
[eferred financing cost (note 17) S7.044 T4.656
£.080,.263 5633 473
13 Uiperating costs
24 2023
Ry RL)
Special project SHIE0I9 1,745,041
Cost of computers sold F15.994 2,097,132
Modemn installazion cosis B14,241 Q3RA5)
Terminal snd capacity 241,003 151,514
Uiperation and maintenance 4,287,351 1637, 267
12,311,308 6,574,607
3 CHher sxpeases
124 2023
RO mO
Corparats mnd office expenses 1,598,050 1,217,056
Caonsultancy expenses BER041 64 802
Legal and professional changes 501,680 T45,. 216
Advertisement expenses S16.507 149852
Inzuramges IZE173 239 204
Mator vehicle relabed expenses 209,143 I 414
IT related expenses 125404 471,604
Rescarch & development 153402 1719
Direciors sitting fees 152,950 172,906
Ultilities A4012 135902
Repair and mabnenance 1204 1,0, 71T
iiscel laneous expenses 26y A5 166,278
Sharl term base expensss 45915 2510

4871918 5,724, 562
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X Sealf costs

2a124 pi [

Ry I E]
Salaries, wages and allowances G2 204 4328817
Other employse relnted costs 2,603,112 1927279
Employees” end of servics benelits (note 1R) 18,830 144,221
Socinl szourity coss T15,5406 92 163

9,499,142 9,192,485

SiafT cos1s have been allocaed o:

2024 2023
Ry Rk
Operaling expenses 490,142 192 A8
Capitalised under property and equipmient {note &) 3165 568 3233 904
1,764,730 12 -Hﬁ,lm_

52 Helated parties

Related partses comprse the shareholders, drectors, key manngement personned and business entities in which
they have the ability to conirol or exercise significant influence in fsancial and operating decisioas.

The Group maintams balonces with these reloted parties which arise in the normal course of business froen the
comimercial transactions, aed are entersd inde @t terms End conditrons midlually sgreed bebween the partiss,

In zcoordance with TAS 24 "Related Pamy Disclosares”, the Group has applied the exemption for 'Government
entities’ and has elected not to disclose transactions with Govemmend of COman ("Government®), 25 the
Chwvernment exerts significant mfluence ever the Company. However, the Group has disclosed transactions which
are gither individually significant or that are collectively slgnificant considering both quantitastive aod qualilative
factara. Mo 2uch Bansactvons have baén reporied during the cusrent and mpnadiv: YEET

The followdng i= a summary of transsctions and balances with releted penies which are inclieded in the
cansolidated financial statements:

fef  Tronsections during the pear

2014 2023

ROl Rl
Interest imeome:
Other related panics 70,533 16,711
Laan | advamce glven:
Oither related parties 1,465,704 043 h54
Pavement receivid:
Ciiher nélaled parties Ilﬁ.ﬁﬂ‘}! -
CGiovernmest nelatad emitbes (14.746) 5

iy Comperenation of key meaggemedt personae

Koy management personsel are thase persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling he activities af the Group, directly or indirectly, including aey Directar (whether execative or
atherwise),

Compenzation of key management personnel darlng the year was as follows:

b4 | .5

B AN ]
Short-term empboyes beaciits 2,043,544 1264214
Dhisectara” remunéralion and siftmg fees 46941 172,904

3330 487 2137114
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2 Helated parthes (continmed )

fied  The year erd Dalanees with relared parties ave a wides

Eikd 20323
4] RO
e fram related parties:
Other reloted partics L L1455
Governumenl relnbed entities - ETI-&

2632105 1, 130300

Dme to related parties:

Other redated pantics s -
Oovernmenl nelated entities B354 Bh642
83,846 B6.642

Ciovernmient related entities inelude baksnces which are unsecured, interess free and payabic on demand
5 Contingenchs and eommitments

Ab 3§ Drecember 2024, the Groap hed cootingent 1Eabiliess in respect of bank  guaramlees amounling o
RO 2,015,936 (2023 - RO 2573090, Capital commitments of the entity ns ot 31 Dgcember 2024 pmoesnted to
RO) 4,674,494 (2027 - RO 4044 11T

34 Fair valae hierarchy

Tl Group measures fair vaboes using the following fair value hisrarchy that reflzcts the sipnificance of the inpats
used in making he measurements:

- Level 1: Quoted morket price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. Fair values of
fimancial assets amd fnancial [eehilithes that are tradad in sctive markets are hased on quoted marked prices
or denler price guotations

- Level 2: Valuation technigques based on observable inpues, either directly (i.e.. &5 prices) or indirectly {i.e.,
derived fram prices). This catsgery includes mstruments valued wiing: quoted market pricss {8 active
markets for similar instrumemts; guoied prices for identical or similar mstrements in mrkels that are
conssdered less than ective;, or other valugtios technigees where all significamt Inputs are directly or
indirecily ohservable from market daks.

. Level 3: Yaluathon technigaes using significant unobservable inputs. This category included all instruments
where the valuation iechnique includes inputs pat hased oo observable dais and the usobservable |oputs
have a significant £ffsct oo the instrument's valuation. This category inchedes instrument that are valied
base oa quoted prices for similar instruments where significast usobservable adjusiments o7 assumptions
are required to relect differences between the instruments,
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34 Fairvalae hierarchy (contlnued]

The Group's financial assets al fair vales threugh ather comprehensive income are carried at level 3 of the fair
vadue hizrmchy, There was oo movement in the fair value hisrarchy for measurement of the financial instruments

diring the vear.

TH]- Valuation techrique Sl:liﬂ:l-ut [nm—l'ﬂlﬂuﬂlim]!
unihservable inpuis between sigaificant
wnohservable imputs and
fiir value messurement
_E:_quir_-.- securifies - The valostson model is Brewenind miiftiples The estimintes fair value

based on muktiples revenue | calcolated using last would incresse | [decrease)

al ke last available price funding rounsds of il revenue was higher /

rovund of the investes respective Companies. | (kower)

anivs,

Iheht securities The valzatson model is Weighted Avernge Cost | The estimaled Faie vatue
based an the present value ol Capdial (WACC) wiiald incresse | (deoreass}
of cash flows which are varies as per sinsclure il WACT was lower
iHscaumied wsing the ansl mabars of the (higher}
weighted nverzge cost of Crumigrany.
capital (WACC)

International Live | Dércowsred cash Tows: The | » Expected cash flows | The estimated fair value

Salution LLT - valsstion made comsiders (31 December 20024 woild increase  {decrease)

unguated the present value of the RO} 306.624). i

investment expecied future paymems, | = Risk-adjusted * the expected cash fhows
discoumbed wsing a rusk- dizzount rate (¥ were higher (kwer); or
aifjustead discoant rate, Drecember HIZ24: s Use plsk-adfusted discount

15.5T4%0. maig wiens lower (higher}
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15 MNon-controlling interest

aj The fellowing table summarizes the information relating bo ¢ach of the Group's subssdiaries that has Mon-
contralbing imleresl

Oenan Technology Fund
Holding Cenriparny Onzof Technologles Chmen Blroad band
31 Decermber 2024 SADC LLC Ciompany SA0C TOTAL
RO RO RO R
NCT Percentage 3T.30% 1% 08,
Noea-currenl dswels 2,545,765 ROL153 2l 400,112 263,085,030
Current pssets 13,933,934 A5 557 42928028 63.307.321
Mia-Clurrenl
linkiligy - {24,639) (172,961,619} {171,9%86,158)
Cuarrent labilities (1,702.974) {11,439 9041} (IRORT DET) (41,230,831)
Mot amets 14,776,727 (423002 102, 27856 11Z,115,262
Carry g Amownt
of NCI £511,771 (2,553, 068) M ERR 640 41547 343
Ineame / pevene (X.551.911) 1648500 45061954 4% 157,815
{Loss )y Profic for
thve year {4,250.441) {1420 2R) 11.898.517 6,218,748
01 H z : i
Ttal
comprehensave
[loss ) pradil (4,250 441) (1,420, 328) 11858517 5,218,748
Lo / [ prafit)
allocaied 1o N (856, 7M) [(TR4.36T) d 680,421 349,257
W] allocated o
NIl - = = -
Ralamee ac w1 01
Jaruary X124 6,378,566 (2, 128,654%) 386217 42,618, 84
Divadend Faid o
Wil - - 3, 119.958) i3, 015,5908)
Share of (lass)
profit for the year (i, T ) (TZ4.36T) ol B4 420 545,257

Balance =&t 31
December 2024 EE11.770 (2,B83, 66 39, BHE 0 42,547,343
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a5 Mop=contraolling interest (continoed)

i1 December 2023

M Percentage
Man-currenl asscts
Current asseis
Wom-current
liahility

Current Habdlisies
Met assels
Carry g Amgunl
of NC]

Incame § reveriue
{Loas VProdit foe
ihe year

Ocl

Tovnl
camprehensive
(Joss)’ profii
Lirss ¢ { profit)
allocated o MCI
OO allocased o
Bl

Balance as st

Ol Jamuary 2023
Mon-contmlling
imterest nn.';irlg omn
the partial disposal
o Diman
Braadband
Company SAOC
Share af [los)
profit for the vear
Balance a5 ut 31
Diecember 223

Chman Techinology Fund
Helding Company
Sa0
RO

35.50%
6,058, 60
14277087

{1,339, 555)
19,036, 168

6,378,566

(8,278,066)
(3,985,586

(5,985, 585)

(1218067

7556653

(1,218,067)
6,378,566

Cinaor Teclnologbe

LLL
RO

1%

408,337
578704
(1870, 204)

{3,826,628)
(3,509, 700)

{2, D28, M)

1530576
{3407, 876)

(3,407 B76h

(1.T38.00 5%

{35684

1,738,015
{2,128 65949)

Oman Broadbard
Company SADC
Ri»

I

225,391,788
41,770,257

[ 145395 .44
{23,393 560)

08,380,045
38 ep 118

3o Ted0 E14
b 030, 166

9050, [

(] W

-

37560027

1 AHL, 240

IR B T

TOTAL
R0

232100811
57635088
{147 2659 644)

(28550, M43)
13,506,512

42,618,084

J6,013,524
(363, 250)

[363.296)
(1,954, 897)

7205949

37,367,027

{1,954,392)

42618 084
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